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Additional power 
supply negotiated 
with ÍSAL 

> Landsvirkjun – half-owned by the city of  
 Reykjavik, half by the State – founded to   
 produce and transmit electricity in south  
 and west Iceland
> Eirikur Briem becomes the first CEO of   
 Landsvirkjun �órisvatn ReservoirBúrfell Station

1965

1969 1972

Energy agreement with Alusuisse

1966

> Energy agreement 
 with Nordurál
> Enlargement of 
 Krafla Station
> An increase in energy  
 supply is negotiated  
 with Elkem Iceland hf

2003

> Cornerstone laid at the Búðarháls 
 Hydropower Station on the 26th of  
 October
> Two wind turbines installed at the  
 Búrfell site
> Landsvirkjun obtains full   
 ownership of �eistareykir ehf. 

2012

Hágöngur 
Reservoir

> Fridrik Sophusson becomes the third 
 CEO of Landsvirkjun
> Sultartangi Station begins operating
> Refurbishment of Búrfell and 
 Sog Stations 
> Subsidiary company Fjarski founded

1999
> Vatnsfell Station   
 begins operating
> Subsidiary company  
 Icelandic Power   
 Insurance founded
> Additional power   
 supply negotiated   
 with Nordurál

2001

> Iceland’s energy sector 
 enters the market
> Construction begins  
 at Kárahnjúkar
> Energy agreement with Alcoa

2007
2008

2007

Sigalda Station Hrauneyjafoss Station

1977 1981

1982

> Hördur Arnarson becomes the   
 fourth CEO of Landsvirkjun
>  Landsvirkjun’s Safety    
 Management System certified   
 according to OHSAS 18001

> Landsvirkjun acquires a 28.771%  
 holding from Orkuveita Húsavíkur 
> New contract for energy sales to  
 Rio Tinto Alcan in Iceland 

> ISO 27001 Certificate for  
 Information Security
> Landsvirkjun expands its  
 customer base, as Verne  
 Holding’s Data Centre 
 begins operations

2010

> Landsvirkjun acquires Laxá stations from the  
 City of Akureyri. 
> Landsvirkjun begins operations nationwide by  
 overtaking the national transmission system
> Halldór Jónatansson becomes the second CEO  
 of the Company

1983

Construction begins 
at Búdarháls

2009

2011

1997

1995
1998

1984

Landsvirkjun purchases Krafla 
from the State as well the rights 
to the geothermal utilities in 
Bjarnarflag and Námaskard

1986

Control station at 
Bústadavegur 
begins operations

Blanda Station

1989

1991

Energy agreement 
with Icelandic 
Alloys Ltd

Kvíslar 
Reservoir

> Icelandic State acquires full   
 ownership of Landsvirkjun
> Fljótsdalur Station, power station for  
 Kárahnjúkar HEP begins operations
> Landsvirkjun subsidiary companies 
 ‘Landsvirkjun Power’ and   
 ‘HydroKraft Invest’ are founded

> ISO 14001 certificate for Environmental  
 Management in Electricity Production
> Icelandic Quality Awards
> Energy contract signed with Becromal

1975

Subsidiary company Landsnet 
founded and Landsvirkjun’s 
wholesale system is 
restructured as a result

2005

2006

All Quality Management 
Systems operated by the 
company are certified 
according to ISO 9001

> Contract with ÍSAL (a subsidiary of Alusuisse)  
 renegotiated with regard to increased power  
 price and indexing of it to the price of aluminium
> Fully connected national transmission grid  
 completed

Landsvirkjun’s history
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A fully state-
owned energy 
company

Landsvirkjun is owned by the Icelandic state. Our role is 
to maximise the potential yield and value of the natural 
resources we have been entrusted with, in a sustainable, 
responsible and efficient manner.

At Landsvirkjun we aspire to become a leader in the 
sustainable use of renewable energy sources in Iceland. 
The Company values are progressiveness, prudence and 
reliability.

01/04
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The majority of other nations in the world rely upon 
fossil fuels to generate energy and are in the process 
of devising measures to guarantee their indepen-
dence in energy matters to increase energy security 
and to support their competitive position.

In this economic climate, the demand for renewable 
electricity sources worldwide has increased dramat-
ically. Europe has set ambitious targets, encouraging 
member states to reach a 20% share of energy from 
renewable sources by 2020. Subsequently, an effort to 
connect electricity grids in Europe is now underway. 

Norway has extensive experience in oil production 
and in submarine cable connections to Europe. They 
are in the process of planning new submarine cable 
projects to facilitate the transport of energy from 
renewable sources. The incentive for this is clearly 
economic benefit, securing the Norwegian economy 
for generations to come.

Iceland presently generates the most electricity in 
Europe per capita from renewable sources and is in a 
unique position to consider the numerous opportu-
nities that lie ahead.

Landsvirkjun’s role is clear. We strive to maximise 
the potential yield and value of the natural resources 
we have been entrusted with in a sustainable, respon-
sible and efficient manner. In light of this, it would 
seem logical for the Company to seek out new energy 
utilisation opportunities that would work alongside 
the industrial market in Iceland. Landsvirkjun un-
derstands the importance of social consensus and is 
considering these projects in collaboration with the 
Icelandic government. 

The future holds great promise.

The Future Holds Great Promise
Bryndís Hlödversdóttir, 
Chairman of the Board 
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Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors

Landsvirkjun is the largest energy company in Iceland and 
is owned by the Icelandic State. The company falls under 
the auspices of the Ministry of Finance which appoints 
the Company’s Board of Directors on an annual basis. 
The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for the 
financial and operational matters of the company.

Landsvirkjun’s Board was appointed at the company’s 
Annual General Meeting on the 18th of April, 2012. At the 
first meeting of the Board, Bryndís Hlödversdóttir was 
elected Chairman of the Board and Sigurbjörg Gísladóttir 
Vice-chairman. 

The reserve members 
of the Board: 

Members of the Board: Magnús Árni Magnússon
Docent at Bifröst University

Baldvin H. Sigurdsson
Restauranteur

Jóna Jónsdóttir
Business administration graduate at Nordlenska in Akureyri

Anna Dóra Sæthórsdóttir
Docent at the University of Iceland

Vigdís M. Sveinbjörnsdóttir
Farmer in Egilsstadir

Bryndís Hlödversdóttir
Rector of Bifröst University

Sigurbjörg Gísladóttir
Chemist at the Environment Agency of Iceland

Ingimundur Sigurpálsson
CEO of Iceland Post

Stefán Arnórsson
Professor at the University of Iceland

Arnar Bjarnason
Managing Director of Reykjavík Capital

Sigurbjörg Gísladóttir

Bryndís Hlödversdóttir

Ingimundur Sigurpálsson Arnar BjarnasonStefán Arnórsson
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Powering the Future
Hördur Arnarson, CEO

Landsvirkjun’s operations were successful in 2012. 
Electrical generation went according to plan and 
without serious incident. Profits this year were sat-
isfactory in light of the present worldwide econom-
ic status. Revenues diminished by 6.5%, which can 
partly be attributed to decreasing aluminium prices 
and the effects on contractual energy prices. Lands-
virkjun therefore benefited substantially by renego-
tiating with one of its biggest customers on higher 
energy prices not linked to the price of aluminium.

The net debt of the Company continues to decrease 
and equity ratio continues to grow. The net debt of 
the Company has decreased by 389 million USD in 
the last three years and it is essential for Landsvirk-
jun to take advantage of the present low interest rate 
environment to effectively continue this trend.

New power projects were explored this year and the 
construction of Búdarháls Hydropower Station pro-

gressed according to schedule. The new hydroelectric 
station will become the sixteenth power station in 
Landsvirkjun’s operations. Work progressed on var-
ious projects, including Búdarháls and preparation 
measures for potential projects in the northeast of 
Iceland. The Icelandic Parliament approved the pro-
posed parliamentary resolution on the Master Plan 
for Geothermal and Hydropower Development in 
Iceland. During the processing and approval period 
of the resolution, Landsvirkjun remained sensitive 
to the process, keeping preparation work on proj-
ects categorised by the Master Plan as ‘protected’ and 

‘under consideration’ to a minimum.

Two wind turbines were erected at the Hafid site 
near Búrfell Hydropower Station towards the end of 
last year. The project is part of a research and devel-
opment project devised to assess the efficiency and 
potential of wind power in Iceland. The research will 
reveal just how and if the Icelandic wind can finally 

Powering the Futurea



9

be put to good use. The project will also provide im-
portant information on how such an operation will 
perform in the unique Icelandic environment and 
how Icelandic society will react to this new energy 
source. It is entirely possible that wind energy could 
become the third pillar in Landsvirkjun’s operations 
in the future, adding to the list of renewable sources 
already utilised by Landsvirkjun, namely geothermal 
and hydroelectric power.

More substantial research has been conducted 
with regard to the sale of electricity to Europe via 
a submarine cable connection. Sales to Europe via 
a submarine cable could go hand in hand with a 
continually growing domestic market. The con-
nection of the closed Icelandic electricity grid 
to the European grid could present the Icelandic 
economy with unique business opportunities. 
However, Landsvirkjun has made it clear that this 
is only presently a research project and is not at 
the point of becoming a reality. The project can 
only move forward with the broad consensus of 
society and of the various stakeholders involved 
in the process.

This year, Landsvirkjun continued its marketing ef-
forts at the international level, promoting Iceland as 
an attractive option for industrial corporations. The 
unpredictable status of the worldwide economy has 
affected Iceland like other countries and many in-
dustrial fields are hesitant to invest in new ventures 
in the current climate.

Landsvirkjun aims to offer the most competitive 
renewable energy contracts in Europe – with long-
term agreements, favourable prices and security of 
supply. Negotiations have been promising in the last 
year and it is clear that Landsvirkjun is justified in 
increasing energy prices. Landsvirkjun signed two 
new energy contracts with PCC Bakki Silicon and 
GMR Recycling this year.

In the past few years Landsvirkjun has focused on 
analysing new opportunities to create value for the 
Company. The opportunities are present and sub-
stantial. If we are able to utilise these effectively 
then the benefits to Landsvirkjun and to Icelandic 
society could be considerable.

Although we place an emphasis on increased value 
creation, we are fully aware of our important posi-
tion within society. We take this role very seriously 
and strive to remain proud of our legacy.

Our responsibility towards the environment is of 
great importance. Our operations have an inevitable 
impact on our surroundings and it is our duty to en-
sure the sustainability of our projects.

The efficiency and sustainability of our projects 
must not be solely reliant upon economic factors. 
These factors can only be ensured by implement-
ing successful systems on environmental and social 
factors. This is our social responsibility. In 2012 we 
made the decision to implement a strategy on social 
responsibility, making it a priority for 2013. Our 
role is threefold, including economic benefit and a 
positive contribution to environmental and social 
matters. 
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The Executive Board and 
Company Structure

Rafnar Lárusson Pálmar Óli MagnússonBjörgvin Skúli Sigurdsson

Einar MathiesenRagna ÁrnadóttirHördur Arnarson Óli Grétar Blöndal Sveinsson

Corporate Office

The Board

Project
Planning and
Construction
Division

Research and
Development

Division

Finance
Division

President and CEO

Energy
Divison

Marketing
and Business
Development
Division

Landsvirkjun Power
Foreign Operations
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Project Planning and 
Construction Division

Research and  
Development Division

Corporate Office Marketing and Business  
Development Division

Energy Division

Landsvirkjun Power

Finance Division

Hördur Arnarson
CEO

Pálmar Óli Magnússon
Executive Vice President

Óli Grétar Blöndal Sveinsson
Executive Vice President 

Ragna Árnadóttir
Deputy CEO

Bjorgvin Skuli Sigurdsson
Executive Vice President

Einar Mathiesen
Executive Vice President

Rafnar Lárusson
Executive Vice President

Our role is to oversee the Company’s joint matters of con-
cern and policy formulation, as well as to ensure profes-
sional management practices. Support divisions handling 
Landsvirkjun’s joint matters are located in the Corporate 
Office.

Our role is to maximise Landsvirkjun’s long-term profit 
potential, through the innovative and effective promotion 
and sale of products and services, within the national and 
international energy sector. 
Magnus Bjarnason gave up his position as EVP of Marketing 
and Business Development in January, 2013.

Our role is to ensure that electricity generation and de-
livery is secure and efficient and fulfills the terms of the 
agreements signed with Landsvirkjun’s customers.

Our role is to provide consultancy services to the inter-
national geothermal and hydropower market, and exper-
tise in the operation of power stations and power trans-
mission systems.

Our role is to create a foundation for efficient operations 
and to promote maximum results in all units of the Lands-
virkjun Group.

Our role is to manage the preparation of new power proj-
ects and to conduct research on the existing power sys-
tems. We ensure the efficient implementation of new 
power projects, increase the flexibility of energy produc-
tion options and support innovation in energy production 
with a long-term view of future energy supplies.

Our role is to oversee Landsvirkjun’s power station projects 
from the preparation stage to their completion. We moni-
tor the costs and safeguard the quality and progress of the 
various projects, keeping them in accordance with the ex-
pectations, plans and needs outlined by the company.
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Highlights of the Year
News

16th of January: 
160 young people employed by Landsvirkjun for  
the summer 
Every year, Landsvirkjun employs and organises 
groups of young people to work in connection with 
environmental issues, tourism and humanitarian 
work, in the areas surrounding the Blanda, Laxá, 
Sogid, and Fljótsdalur Hydropower Stations, and 
in Reykjavík. Environmental groups also travel the 
country reclaiming land and planting treas. 

15th of February: 
58 million ISK awarded by the Energy Research Fund 
In 2012, the fund awarded 35 grants to postgraduate 
studies and research projects. The Energy Research 
Fund’s goal is to strengthen research in the fields of 
environmental and energy affairs. This is the fifth 
time that the fund has awarded grants to deserving 
recipients.

28th of February: 
Changes in the structure of the executive board and 
corporate office 
Human Resources and IT are now under the direc-
tion of the CEO office, where all support divisions 
attending to the joint issues of the Company are now 
located. Ragna Árnadóttir will serve as Deputy CEO 
and will be responsible for the management of the 
Corporate Office. 

28th of February: 
New Head of Human Resources appointed
Sturla Jóhann Hreinsson was appointed Head of the 
Human Resources Division. He has extensive experi-
ence and education in human resources matters.

23rd of March: 
Moody’s affirms Baa3/ (P) P-3 unsecured ratings of 
Landsvirkjun but raises basic rating from B2 to B1
Moody’s stated that the new rating “reflects the 
Company’s strengthened financial profile following 
its completion of a major investment programme and 
strong cash flow generation in conjunction with an 

improved liquidity profile.” In addition, they also 
commented on the firm financial position of the 
Company, its important position within the Icelandic 
domestic electricity market, and its strong asset base 
used for the generation of renewable energy. 

23rd of March: 
Landsvirkjun’s advertisement receives a presti-
gious award from FÍT
The advertisement “Will Our Wind Finally be Use-
ful?” was launched in the summer of 2011, on the 
webpage já.is. The campaign was designed by ad-
vertising agency Jónsson & Le’macks. Additionaly, a 
number of Landsvirkjun’s advertisements and events 
were nominated in three categories at the Icelandic 
Advertisement Awards, ‘Lúdurinn’. The producers 
were Jónsson & Le’macks and Gagarín.

30th of March: 
Landsvirkjun purchases full rights to Theistareykir ehf
Landsvirkjun has come to an agreement with 
the Thingeyjarsveit Municipality and Orkuveita 
Húsavíkur (Húsavík Energy) on the purchase of their 
shares in Theistareykir hf. Landsvirkjun now owns 
the company outright.
  
4th of April: 
Landsvirkjun acquires a 30.32% share in Sjávar- 
orka ehf via a share capital increase
Landsvirkjun had previously funded a project to re-
search the use of tidal power through their Energy 
Research Fund. As a shareholder, Landsvirkjun will 
be given the opportunity to directly participate in 
the research project, which has required consider-
able preparatory work.

12th of April: 
A submarine cable, together with industrial devel-
opment is possibly one of the biggest business op-
portunities Iceland has been presented with 
Over 450 guests attended Landsvirkjun’s Annual 
Meeting, held in the Harpa Concert Hall and Confer-
ence Centre. In his address, Hördur Arnarson, CEO 
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The lava field to the north of Búrfell is called Hafid (the Ocean) de-
spite the fact that it is situated nearly seventy kilometres inland. 
Landsvirkjun has erected two wind turbines at the site and they 
are the first of their kind in Iceland. The wind turbines are from 
the German company Enercon, each has an installed capacity 
of 0.9 MW and the turbine masts are 77 metres high. The wind 
turbines are part of a research and development project aiming 
to utilise this valuable resource.

Wind Turbines at Hafid
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of Landsvirkjun commented on the unique position 
of Iceland within the European community with 
regard to opportunities in renewable electricity 
generation. Increased energy generation could be 
utilised to support a variety of different industries 
and could also potentially supply energy to Europe 
via a subsea cable. 

18th of April:
1.8 billion ISK in dividends
Landsvirkjun approved the Board’s proposal to re-
lease dividends to the Company’s owners in the 
amount of 1.8 billion ISK/14.7 million dollars (for 
2011) at the Annual General Meeting. Landsvirkjun 
last paid dividends to its owners in 2008.

18th of April: 
Landsvirkjun’s ECA financing agreement receives  
an award
The Trade Finance Magazine has announced and pub-
lished Landsvirkjun´s ECA financing for Búdarháls 
power station as ‘Deal of the Year’ for 2011. Lands-
virkjun received the award for the ECA backed fi-
nance agreement that the company signed for a supply 
agreement (for the production, and supply of electro-
mechanical material for Búdarháls Hydroelectric Sta-
tion). The Committee compared finance agreements in 
Europe, the Middle East and Africa, in 2011. 

5th of May: 
Comments to the Master Plan for hydro and geo-
thermal energy resources in Iceland
Landsvirkjun has recommended that changes be made 
to the parliamentary proposal for the “Master Plan for 
Hydro and Geothermal Energy Resources in Iceland”. 
Landsvirkjun believes that the decision by the gov-
ernment to place five important energy projects in the 

‘under consideration’ category is unjustified. The Com-
pany reiterated its concerns that economy and profit-
ability had not been given enough weight when decid-
ing which category energy projects were placed into. 
 
 

18th of June:  
A new and improved Visitor Centre opens at the 
Krafla Geothermal Power Station
The exhibition gives visitors the opportunity to famil-
iarise themselves with all the potential of geothermal 
and renewable energy. It offers visitors insight into 
renewable energy generation and the growing world-
wide need for this natural resource. Landsvirkjun has 
three Visitor Centres in different parts of the country 
including Búrfell, Krafla and Fljótsdalsstöd. 

22nd of June:
New Renewable Energy Power Purchase Agreement 
with GMR
The power purchase agreement commits Landsvirk-
jun to provide GMR with up to 10 MW of power for a 
seven year period. The company is a welcome addi-
tion to our customer base and increases its diversi-
ty — a key component of Landsvirkjun’s marketing 
strategy.

28th of June: 
Landsvirkjun announces New Renewable Energy 
Power Purchase Agreement with PCC 
Landsvirkjun will provide clean, renewable energy to 
power a metal silicon production plant being built by 
PCC in Bakki near Húsavík, on Iceland’s north coast. 
The 32,000 tonne facility is scheduled to come online 
in late 2015 and will require 52 MW of power, or 456 
GWh annually, which will be derived from renewable 
sources such as geothermal and hydro.

30th of July: 
Successful safety measures
Over one year has passed since the last recorded ac-
cident in Landsvirkjun’s operations, a rare record in 
the industry. The Company has worked systemati-
cally to improve preventative measures, including 
the implementation of Health and Safety systems 
and internationally recognised certification, in an 
attempt to create a safe and accident-free place of 
employment, where staff safety is a key concern. 
 

> News
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1st of August:
Main reservoir supply over the average yearly level
Landsvirkjun’s main reservoirs have remained un-
affected by an unusually dry summer. At the end of 
July, the average levels of the main reservoirs were 
approximately 9% higher than that in an average year 
and had a 92% fill rate, despite the fact that water had 
flowed unhindered along the river channels of the 
Jökulsá and Fljótsdal Rivers and through the upper 
region of the Thjórsá River, since the beginning of May.

17th of August: 
Landsvirkjun Power and Verkís sign an engineering 
consultancy agreement with Machakhela HPP 1 LLC 
Landsvirkjun Power and Verkís Consulting Engi-
neers won a bid for the development of two 20-25 MW 
hydroelectric power stations in Georgia. They have 
also signed a sub-consultancy agreement with the 
local engineering company Peri LLC, which will be 
responsible for the site investigation work of the local 
companies Geoengineering and Geographic, as well 
as for the engineering work of the company Georgian 
Water Power.

24th of August: 
Profit for the first six months of the year acceptable 
considering the worldwide financial situation
Revenue decreased by 6.9%, which is partly due to 
the lowering of aluminium prices. The net debt of 
the Company continues to decrease; now by USD 74 
million, despite the fact that the Company paid div-
idends and increased investments (compared to the 
previous year). Reducing the amount of debt remains 
a priority, due to the high leverage of the Company.

5th of October: 
Preparation work at Bjarnarflag
In the last few years, Landsvirkjun has undertaken 
various preparation and research projects in connec-
tion with proposed power projects at Bjarnarflag and 
Theistareykir. A 45 MW power plant at Bjarnarflag or 
Theistareykir is expected to be the first step in the 
gradual development of sustainable geothermal pro-

duction in the northeast. Preparation work included 
ground work on the proposed powerhouse site, road 
construction and the setting up of work camps.

24th of October:
IHA assessment of preparation measures for the 
Hvammsvirkjun Project
Landsvirkjun fulfils the requirements for “good 
practice” in 20 out of the 21 topics assessed by a new 
international protocol, designed by the International 
Hydropower Association (IHA). The protocol assesses 
the sustainability of hydropower projects at all stages 
of development. It is Landvirkjun’s intention to uti-
lise the protocol for all future projects, throughout 
the four outlined stages of development. It will also 
utilise the protocol to assess power plants that have 
been operated by Landsvirkjun for decades.

26th of October:
Cornerstone laid at Búdarháls Hydropower Station
In an official ceremony, the President of Iceland, Mr 
Ólafur Ragnar Grímsson, laid the cornerstone at the 
Búdarháls Hydroelectric Power Station. Búdarháls is 
expected to begin operation towards the end of 2013. 
The station is expected to have an installed capacity 
of 95 MW and a generating capacity of approximately 
585 GW/h per year.

8th of November: 
Ragna Sara Jónsdóttir appointed Director of Corpo-
rate Social Responsibility and Magnús Thór Gylfason 
appointed Director of Corporate Communication
Landsvirkjun has created the position of ‘Director 
Corporate Social Responsibility’ to ensure the suc-
cessful implementation of its Social Responsibility 
Policy, a priority project for 2013. The role of the Cor-
porate Communication Division is to oversee informa-
tion dissemination in order to increase transparency 
and to encourage knowledge and consensus within 
society with regard to Landsvirkjun’s operations. 
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13th of November: 
Landsvirkjun launches a new website
The website aims to increase access to information on 
the Company and to support the Company’s new di-
rection. The website is scalable, ensuring that screen 
sizes in all gadgets are used to their maximum po-
tential. The company Skapalón is responsible for the 
design of the webpage and will continue to develop it 
in the coming months.

20th of November: 
Iceland is in an advantageous position; over 400 
guests were present at the Annual Autumn Meeting
Many international industrial companies have shown 
interest in Iceland and are eager to commence with a 
variety of projects once the recession comes to a close. 
Landsvirkjun has so far outlined and provisionally 
agreed to energy contracts with four international 
companies and is in the process of completing a num-
ber of other agreements. Current clients have also ex-
pressed an interest in expansion, once the recession 
comes to a close.

27th of November: 
Breakthrough at Búdarháls Hydropower Station
A milestone was reached at the Búdarháls Hydro-
power Station construction site when explosives cut 
through the last remaining unexcavated section of 
the tunnel, merging the two tunnels from either side 
of the site. The headrace tunnel is 4 km in length and 
the total cross section area is approximately 140 m2. 
The tunnel is being excavated from both ends and in 
two phases, as a result of a height difference.

30th of November: 
Over 23,7 TWhrs of energy have been generated by 
the Fljótsdalur Hydropower Station
Five years have passed since the Fljótsdalur Hydro-
power Station came on-line. The station became of-
ficially operational on the 30th of November in 2007 
and the occasion was marked by a ceremony held 
both in Fljótsdalur and Reykjavík. The operation of 
the station has been successful from its beginning 

and power generation has fulfilled original expecta-
tions. The installed capacity of the station is 690 MW.

5th of December: 
The first wind turbines erected
Landsvirkjun has successfully erected its first two 
wind turbines in the Búrfell area. The wind turbines 
each have a 900 kW capacity and together their gen-
erating capacity is aproximately 5.4 GWh per year. 
Wind energy could become the third pillar in Lands-
virkjun’s operations in the future, adding to the list 
of renewable sources already utilised by Landsvirk-
jun such as geothermal and hydroelectric power.

12th of December: 
43 projects awarded funding from Landsvirkjun’s 
Community Fund
Landsvirkjun is involved in various projects and fol-
lows a policy of providing grants to good causes. The 
company has supported a number of causes, includ-
ing various charities, cultural and educational proj-
ects and sports and leisure activities. Applications are 
accepted all year round and funds are released every 
quarter. The application deadlines are the 25th of 
February, May, August and November of every year.

18th of December: 
Cooperation agreement signed with Sólheimar Eco-
village
Landsvirkjun has been a strong supporter and spon-
sor of the Sólheimar Ecovillage and the new contract 
promises to continue the trend by donating 2 mil-
lion ISK annually to the cause for the next two years. 
Priority will be given to completing the new Energy 
Garden to encourage further action on environmen-
tal issues, and to the further development of the sus-
tainability of the Sólheimar area.

> News
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Operations and 
Marketing

The operations of Landsvirkjun’s power stations were  
successful throughout the year without serious events.  
Landsvirkjun generated 12,312 GWh in 2012. Construc-
tion work at Búdarháls Hydroelectric Station went ac-
cording to schedule and it is estimated that the Station 
will begin to produce energy in late 2013. Two new ener-
gy contracts were signed with two new clients this year.

02/04
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Landsvirkjun at a Glance

Landsvirkjun plans to utilise business opportunites through policy formulation based on three main bases

Efficient electricity 
production and 

development

A diverse 
client group

Connecting 
to European 

energy markets

To inspire and promote expertise and talent

Encouraging unity and support from stakeholders via open and clear communication

Landsvirkjun‘s role is to maximise the potential  
yield and value of the natural resources we have been 

 entrusted with, in a sustainable, responsible and efficient manner.

Electricity generation (GWh) 12,312

Total number of employees 247

Installed capacity (MW)

Areas of operation 

Hydropower stations

Geothermal stations

Wind turbines

2
2

13

1,860
5

Division of electricity sales in 2012 (MWh)

  Alcoa     Rio Tinto Alcan     Nordurál     Elkem    

  Becromal      Verne Holdings (<1%)     General market

 

          39%
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  14%

23%

12%
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* Before unrealised financial items

** Net liabilities are interest bearing long-term liabilities less cash and restricted deposits

Renewable electrical generation in Europe per capita

  Europe     Norway     Iceland  Hydropower     Geothermal power

Electricity generation in Iceland

Iceland is the second largest producer of electricity from renew-

able sources in Europe and the largest when calculated per cap-

ita. Landsvirkjun is one of the 10 largest producers of renewable 

energy in Europe.

Landsvirkjun Total generation in Iceland

0.5 TWh

5.2 TWh

54 MWh

11.8 TWh

12.3 TWh

Financial highlights (millions USD)

Profit*

Operating revenues

Cash flow from operating activities

Total assets

Net liabilities**

Equity ratio

102

4,519

2,436

38%

408

236

106

EBITDA 320 345

4,636

2,503

36%

436

267

2012 2011 
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Debt continues to decrease
Finance and operating results

Construction of the Búdarháls power plant con-
tinued throughout the year, which will lead to  
increased production at year-end 2013. Despite 
lower revenues and increased investments from the 
previous year, the Company continued to decrease 
debt and improve its financial standing. 

Operating revenues in 2012 amounted to USD 408 
million and decreased by 6.5% from the previous 
year. The decrease in operating revenues is mainly 
explained by lower energy prices, due to lower 
aluminium prices. 

The average wholesale price to retail sales companies 
(excluding transmission costs) was 3.9 ISK/kWh 
during the year compared to 3.6 ISK/kWh the 
previous year, which is an increase of 8.3% between 
years. The average price to industrial users was 
26.2 USD/MWh in the year 2012 and decreased 
by 8.7% from the previous year from 28.7 USD/
MWh. The average price to industrial users includes 
transmission costs, where appropriate. At year-end 
2012, around 50% of the Company’s electric power 
sales were linked to the price of aluminium. The 
Company hedges part of its aluminium price risk. 
Recognised income from realised aluminium hedges 
for the year amounted to USD 18 million, compared 
to USD 16 million in the year 2011.

Operating expenses, less depreciation and 
impairment loss amounted to USD 88 million in the 
year compared to USD 91 million in the previous year. 
EBITDA amounted to USD 320 million, which is a 
decrease of USD 26 million compared to the year 2011, 
which was an all-time high for the Company. EBITDA 
as a proportion of revenues decreased between years 
from 79.1% to 78.4% but the ratio has been in a similar 
range since 2009.

Profit before unrealised financial items amounted 
to USD 102 million in the year 2012, compared to 
USD 106 million in the previous year. Net realised 
finance expenses according to the management’s 
presentation decreased from USD 127 million in the 

year 2011 to USD 103 million in the year 2012, mainly 
due to lower interest expenses, lower losses due to a 
realised foreign exchange difference and a decrease in 
the ISK inflation index. The average nominal interest 
rate on long-term loans was around 3.3% in the year 
2012, compared to 3.5% in the previous year, taking 
into account the State guarantee fee.  

A part of the parent Company’s electric power 
sales agreements are linked to aluminium price 
developments. International Financial Reporting 
Standards require that the aluminium price link be 
calculated as an embedded derivative. Calculated 
changes in the value of the embedded derivative are 
recognised in the income statement and can have 
significant effects on the Company’s financial items 
and final operating results. Fair value changes are 
mostly unrealised, which must be kept in mind 
when evaluating the Company’s results. Unrealised 
finance expenses decreased between years from 
USD 64 million to USD 2 million. The Company’s 
profit amounted to USD 54 million in the year 2012, 
compared to USD 26 million in the previous year. 
Return on equity was 3.3%, compared to 1.6% in the 
previous year. 

Balance Sheet
Landsvirkjun’s total assets, according to the balance 
sheet amounted to USD 4,519 million at year- end 
2012. Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 2012 
amounted to USD 188 million and, furthermore, the 
Company has access to long term loans and Revolving 
Credit Facilities, an undrawn total amount of USD 410 
million. Liquid assets and undrawn loans, therefore, 
amount to USD 598 million in total. The Company’s 
year-end equity in 2012 was USD 1,697 million and 
the equity ratio increased from 36% to approximately 
38% between years, which is close to the all-time 
high for the Company. Landsvirkjun paid a USD 14.2 
million dividend to the owners for the operating year 
2011. Dividends were last paid in 2008.  

The Company’s liabilities amounted to USD 2,821 
million at year-end. Landsvirkjun’s net interest 
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Operating revenues
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bearing long-term liabilities decreased by USD 67 
million in the year and amounted to USD 2,436 
million at year-end. The weighted average maturity 
time of the loan portfolio was around 6.5 years.

Cash flow
Cash flow from the Group’s operations amounted to 
USD 236 million, which is USD 31 million lower than 
in the year 2011, when cash flow from operations was 
at an all-time high. Investing activities amounted to 
USD 123 million compared to USD 108 million in the 
previous year. The main investments of approximately 
USD 68 million were due to the construction of the 
Búdarháls Power Project.  

New financing in the year amounted to USD 17 million, 
while maturities amounted to USD 156 million. This 
was the fourth year in a row where the Company’s 
amortisation of loans was in excess of borrowings 
or by the amount of USD 139 million. In total, net 
liabilities have decreased by USD 415 million. The 
Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased by 
USD 42 million in the year and amounted to USD 188 
million at year-end. 

Key ratios
Landsvirkjun is still leveraged but over the past 
years the Company has been systematically decreas-
ing its debt and improving ratios, which affect the 
Company’s credit rating. The equity ratio has in-
creased consistently from the year 2008, from 30% 
to around 38% at year-end 2012. The Company’s 

leverage measured against operating income before 
depreciation and amortisation (net liabilities/EBIT-
DA) increased however from 7.25 at year-end 2011 to 
7.62 at year-end 2012 due to lower EBITDA between 
years. Interest coverage (EBITDA/net interest ex-
penses) increased to 3.25 from 3.06 at year-end 2011 
due to lower interest expenses. Return on equity 
was 3.3% in the year 2012 compared to 1.6% in the 
year 2011. 

Risk management 
Landsvirkjun places an emphasis on maintaining 
continuous control and active financial risk man-
agement. The Company is exposed to financial risk, 
due to fluctuations in aluminium prices, interest 
rates and exchange rates in relation to electric pow-
er sales agreements, loan agreements and new pro-
jects. Landsvirkjun has established benchmarks for 
financial risks and manages the risks by means of 
derivatives, such as forward agreements, interest rate 
swaps and options.

Operating outlook
Landsvirkjun will continue to place an emphasis 
on decreasing leverage and work on improving 
efficiency and decreasing risk exposure. As 
Landsvirkjun’s revenues are still in part affected 
by global market aluminium prices, the Company 
will continue to work on reducing its exposure to 
aluminium price risk. Interest rates in the main 
financial markets are currently low, which is 
favourable for Landsvirkjun as the main part of its 
loans carry floating interest rates, but the Company 
also aims to reduce its exposure to interest rate 
risk and benefit from low long term interest rates. 
The Company’s results will therefore as before be 
significantly subject to developments in aluminium 
prices, interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
The construction of the Búdarháls power plant is 
estimated to be almost finalized at year-end 2013 
and electricity sales from the plant are estimated to 
begin early in the year 2014.  

Interest coverage and net liabilities / EBITDA
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Investing activities and cash flow from operations Investments
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Purposefully Developing  
New Business Opportunities
Marketing and Business Development

Global business demands brought energy-inten-
sive industry to Iceland and powerful international 
corporations have built up their operations here, 
providing Landsvirkjun with a solid revenue base. 
The energy demands of international business are 
growing rapidly and the needs are diverse. Lands-
virkjun has answered the call by providing highly 
competitive energy contracts, serving both the 
needs of existing and prospective customers. The 
objective is to create profitable collaborative busi-
ness relationships. The Marketing and Business 
Development Division is responsible for such ef-
forts and for forging long-term productive business 
relationships with present and prospective clients, 
coordinating the various contracts and identifying 
lucrative opportunities within the energy market.

Dynamic marketing and promotional efforts
Landsvirkjun dynamically and consistently promotes 
its services at an international level, and last year 
took the initiative by inviting new power intensive 
industries to assess the viability of Iceland as a busi-
ness base as well as considering Landsvirkjun as an 
energy supplier. Promotional efforts focused on the 
data centre industry and the silicon metal industry. 
Marketing efforts were also boosted in order to reach 
the carbon fibre industry.

Landsvirkjun worked in collaboration with Promote 
Iceland, at an event held for data centres in the U.S. 
last year and supported Icelandic stakeholders at four 
data centre industry conferences. Landsvirkjun has 
been in direct contact with over 30 data centre com-
panies and has held direct meetings with representa-
tives from the carbon fibre industry. The submarine 
cable project was also introduced to local and inter-
national stakeholders. Further development, net-
working and analysis with regard to the project will 
be a priority for 2013. We have been determined in in-
creasing the clarity of promotional efforts for existing 
and prospective clients and as part of this effort we 
released five international press statements between 
the end of 2011 and October 2012. The releases in-
cluded information on energy prices, the data centre 

industry in Iceland, the submarine cable and our new 
contract with PCC and GMR. GMR will begin opera-
tions at Grundartangi in the spring of 2013. Lands-
virkjun has also re-designed its webpage.

A clear marketing message
Landsvirkjun’s main message to prospective custom-
ers has been the availability of energy contracts with 
market conditions that place particular emphasis on 
the following aspects:

>  the most competitive energy prices in Europe
>  100% renewable energy
>  reliable long-term energy contracts   

Landsvirkjun consistently endeavours to offer the 
most competitive terms on electricity in Europe with 
attractive and stable electricity prices, taking into 
account the development of the European electrici-
ty market, long-term contracts and a reliable supply. 
The company took a substantial step in 2011 when 
it published electricity prices for the industrial sec-
tor in Iceland. Landsvirkjun introduced the 12-year 
long-term contracts for renewable electricity at the 
most competitive prices in Europe: $43/MWh with 
discount rates in the first few years. In comparison, 
the average market price of electricity (2010-2012) 
was $63/MWh in the Netherlands, $57/MWh in Scan-
dinavia and $60/MWh in Germany. Recently, the 
World Economic Forum rated the security of supply 
in Iceland as the 2nd most reliable in the world.

Business analysis and networking
Networking is an essential part of Landsvirkjun’s 
marketing strategy. Our strategy is twofold and is 
both aimed at existing customers, including the var-
ious industrial corporations and power sales compa-
nies, and at prospective customers. In 2012, we con-
centrated our efforts on honing our networking skills 
with prospective customers and strengthening our 
communication strategy with existing customers. 
The first task was entrusted to a new division within 
the Marketing and Business Development Division, 
which was given the name ‘Sales and Business Devel-
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The worldwide demand for the supply of green energy is 
growing fast and the needs of international corporations are 
diverse. Landsvirkjun answers the call by offering the most 
competitive renewable energy contracts possible, fulfilling 
the needs of current and prospective customers. Recently, 
the World Economic Forum rated the reliability of supply in 
Iceland to be the 2nd best in the world. Our energy prices are 
highly competitive when compared with the rest of Europe 
and suit power intensive industries.

Landsvirkjun competing at the international level
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opment’ and the latter with a new department given 
the name ‘Key Account Management’.

The Business Analysis Division was also strengthened 
by the appointment of a new member of staff this year. 
The role of the division is to execute analyses that in-
crease Landsvirkjun’s knowledge base with regard to 
the international energy market, the diverse needs of 
various industries and the evaluation of the long-term 
liquidity of these industries. This increased emphasis 
on business analysis has resulted in securing a profes-
sional approach to existing and prospective customers.

Landsvirkjun‘s relationship with existing clients and 
industries already operating here is and always has 
been based upon a strong foundation. Significant prog-
ress was made in 2012, when Landsvirkjun successfully 
negotiated two new agreements with Norðurál, recon-
ciling two issues concerning reduced energy purchases 
and imbalance settlements.

In 2012, the focus was on analysing future solutions in 
the Icelandic market, especially the ability to create a 
platform for an open and transparent energy market 
trading in short-term contracts. This work is not com-
pleted. In 2013, Landsvirkjun aims to determine a pol-
icy with regard to the business options available on the 
open market and to renew wholesale contracts that are 
due to expire in the next three years. Both will be done 
in collaboration with energy sales corporations in close 
business cooperation with Landsvirkjun.

Contracts with new customers
Landsvirkjun signed contracts with two new custom-
ers in 2012. 

GMR Endurvinnslan ehf (Geothermal Metal Recycling) 
and Landsvirkjun signed an energy sales contract in 
June, 2012. GMR will use the energy to recycle steel and 
scrap metal. GMR hopes to begin operations in April, 
2013. Initially, 8MW of power will be supplied during 
weekdays but the aim is to supply 10 MW within three 

years on a more consistent usage basis.

At the end of the same month Landsvirkjun signed 
an electricity contract with PCC Bakki Silicon hf., an 
Icelandic subsidiary of PCC SE of Germany. Under the 
agreement, Landsvirkjun will supply electricity to a 
silicon metal factory that PCC plans to build at Bakki 
by Húsavík. It is estimated that the factory, which will 
produce 32 thousand tonnes per year, will begin op-
erations in 2016 and will require 52 MW of power and 
up to about 450 GWh of electricity per year. PCC is 
currently completing an environmental impact assess-
ment for the project but any disclaimers in the contract 
are expected to be lifted by mid-2013.

Landsvirkjun has also officially signed a Letter of In-
tent with Thorsil and Saint Gobain and both compa-
nies plan to build a factory at Bakki, in the northeast, 
in 2015. Thorsil intends to open a silicon metal factory 
whereas Saint Gobain intends to process silicon car-
bide. Negotiations for an electricity contract are still in 
progress. Discussions have taken place with a number 
of other interested parties in diverse fields that have 
shown interest in investing in Iceland. The negotiation 
stage achieved so far varies between potential projects.

The main obstacle for achieving further contracts in 
2012 has been the state of the global economy, which 
has affected the decision making process in all indus-
tries, worldwide. Many corporations are preparing to 
start construction as soon as the world financial crisis 
comes to an end. It is difficult to predict future trends 
in the year 2013 but it is clear that the demand for en-
ergy from Landsvirkjun will exceed supply once the 
global economy improves.

Guarantees of origin and green certificates
In 2012, extensive efforts were made to ensure access 
to markets for Icelandic guarantees of origin. This 
included partnerships with government agencies 
and stakeholders on the implementation of the Eu-
ropean Directive 2009/28/EC and related regulations 
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Average market price of electricity 2010-2012

  Netherlands     Scandinavia     Germany      Landsvirkjun**

$63/MWh $57/MWh $60/MWh $43/MWh

Division of electricity sales (MWh)

  Alcoa     Rio Tinto Alcan     Nordurál     Elkem   

  Becromal      Verne Holdings (<1%)      General market
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pertaining to the disclosure of guarantees of origin. 
Productive efforts continued on understanding the 
market and strengthening business ties within the 
European market. Marketing efforts will focus on 
innovative marketing activities in this field with the 
aim of maximising the value of guarantees of origin 
through targeted sales activities.

The green certificate market is relatively new and 
there are high expectations about its future. The 
market is still evolving, but preliminary analysis in-
dicates that the sale of green certificates could poten-
tially increase Landsvirkjun’s revenue substantially 
in years to come.

Connecting with the European market
Previous studies carried out by Landsvirkjun have 
indicated that a submarine cable from Iceland is 
technically feasible and financially expedient. The 
Company worked diligently throughout the year to 

increase knowledge and understanding within the 
Company, on the potential financial impact that the 
proposed submarine cable could have on Iceland. As 
a result of this, Landsvirkjun has decided to focus 
on examining the implications of a submarine cable 
to the UK. Research on the project will continue in 
the near future and Landsvirkjun will continue to 
support and validate the premise already outlined 
by the Company for the project. This will include 
informal discussions with representatives from the 
UK. It should be noted that the Icelandic Ministry of 
Industries and Innovation has a 15-strong committee 
involved in assessing the social, environmental and 
macroeconomic impact of a submarine cable on Ice-
land. The advisory committee intends to deliver an 
interim report to the Minister of Industries and In-
novation in May, 2013. The project will only go ahead 
with the broad consensus of Icelandic society and the 
various stakeholders.

* All figures in accordance with prices for 2012. 
**Landsvirkjun’s prices for 12 year contracts.    Source: www.montel.no

23%

12%
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1. Sogid

575 GWh per year
Generation capacity

The hydropower stations in the Sogid area utilise water that 

originates in Lake Úlfljótsvatn’s outflow, the two waterfalls 

Írafoss and Kistufoss and the head where the Upper Sog 

drains from Lake Thingvallavatn into Lake Úlfljótsvatn. The 

stations were constructed to supply domestic areas in the 

southwest region with electricity and are still going strong.

Ljósifoss (1937) 16 MW 

Írafoss (1953) 48 MW 

Steingrímsstöd (1959) 27 MW 

840 MW
Installed capacity

This is Landsvirkjun’s largest production area, with five pow-

er stations. The sixth is under construction at Búdarháls. Two 

wind turbines have also been installed in the area, to the 

north of Búrfell, for research purposes.

Hydropower Wind energy Geothermal

Búrfell (1972) 270 MW 

Hrauneyjafoss (1981) 210 MW 

Sigalda (1978) 150 MW 

Sultartangi (1999) 120 MW 

Vatnsfell (2001) 90 MW 

Hafid (wind turbines – research project/2013) (1.8 MW)

Búdarháls (under construction/2013) (90 MW)

2. Thjórsá/Tungnaá

Landsvirkjun’s Power Stations

91 MW 
Installed capacity 

6,250 GWh per year
Generation capacity
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6. Fljótsdalur

690 MW 
Installed capacity

63 MW 
Installed capacity

Constructed in 2007, Fljótsdalur is the largest hydropow-

er station operated by Landsvirkjun. The station utilises  

water from reservoirs and water channels at the edge of the  

Vatnajökull Glacier. The water is directed into the station via 

a system of tunnels (72 km in total).

5. Krafla and Bjarnarflag

Landsvirkjun gained full ownership of the geothermal stations 

in the Krafla area in 1983 and 1985.

Krafla (1977/’97) 60 MW 

Bjarnarflag (1969) 3 MW 

2

3 6

1

4 5
Landsvirkjun operates thirteen hydropower stations and 
two geothermal stations in five areas of Iceland. The new 
hydropower station at Búdarháls is expected to begin opera-
tions towards the end of 2013. Two wind turbines have been 
erected for research purposes to the north of Búrfell.

3. Blanda

150 MW 
Installed capacity

Blanda Hydropower Station is located underground at a depth 

of 230 m. It was constructed in 1991 and its design is almost 

exclusively Icelandic. The reservoir for the power station is 

the third largest lake in the country.

4. Laxá

27.5 MW 
Installed capacity

The Laxá power stations are the smallest of all the stations 

operated by Landsvirkjun. The town of Akureyri and the 

Icelandic State constructed the Laxá stations, joining forces 

with Landsvirkjun in 1983.

Laxá I (1939) 5 MW 

Laxá II (1953) 9 MW 

Laxá III (1973) 13.5 MW 

Landsvirkjun’s Power Stations

990 GWh per year 
Generation capacity

525 GWh per year 
Generation capacity

160 GWh per year 
Generation capacity

5,000 GWh per year 
Generation capacity
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Iceland generates 99% of its electrical energy 
from renewable hydroelectric and geothermal 
sources. Landsvirkjun generates over two thirds 
of this energy from hydroelectric and geothermal 
sources and is one of the ten largest producers of 
renewable energy in Europe.

Landsvirkjun operates 13 hydropower sta-
tions and 2 geothermal stations all over Ice-
land, in five areas of operation. We believe in 
an integrated approach where prudence, re-
liability and harmony with the environment 
and society, are fundamental to our operation.

Hydropower: 11,822 GWhrs 
All reservoirs were filled over the last summer 
period, except for Thórisvatn which was kept at 
a height of 578 metres above sea level as a result 
of the construction work being carried out at the 
Búdarhálsvirkjun Hydropower Station. Winter 
arrived early, resulting in a swift decline in water 
levels in the reservoirs. Landsvirkjun‘s water re-
sources were measured at approximately 3,100 Gl at 
the end of 2012, which is less than that of previous 
years. However, the supply to customers remained 
stable, despite the low levels in the reservoirs and 
there will be no forseeable effect on the supply over 
the winter period of 2013.

The flow rate in the Thjórsá River region was well 
below average and the flow rate to the Búrfell Sta-
tion was the tenth lowest since operations began 
in 1970, 42 years ago. The flow rate into the Blanda 
reservoir has never been as low as it was this year, 
not since the Blanda Hydropower Station began op-
erations in 1991. The flow rate in the Hálslón Reser-
voir was in keeping with average rates for the area 
in 2012.

Geothermal Energy: 490 GWhrs
The electricity generated by the geothermal power 
stations, operated by Landsvirkjun at Krafla and 
Bjarnarflag was approximately 490 GWhrs. The 
average live steam flow rate harnessed from the 18 
boreholes at Krafla was approximately 156 kg/s, but 
approximately 131 kg/s were separated off. The av-
erage steam flow rate harnessed at Bjarnarflag was 
approximately 29 kg/s, but the overall water flow 
rate from the system was 76 kg/s, on average. A to-
tal of 9.70 million tonnes was harnessed at Krafla 
in 2012; the total steam flow harnessed was 4.93 
million tonnes and the total amount of water re-in-
jected into the ground was 2.56 million tonnes.

Landsvirkjun places great importance on sustain-
ably utilising geothermal energy resources with 
careful consideration for maintaining the balance 
between utilising this energy source and protect-
ing the natural source and supply. Excess water 
that is not used for electricity generation is re-
injected back into the natural water reservoir. The 
re-injection rate of excess water at Krafla for most 
of 2012 was 80 kg/s, but this was increased to 105 
kg/s in December. The ratio of drainage liquid and 
separated water from Krafla Geothermal Station 
was therefore increased to 80%. Landsvirkjun 
intends to increase the re-injection rate of geo-
thermal fluid at Krafla even further between 2013 
and 2015.

Energy generation in 2012
Power stations, maintenance 
and constructio�

Geothermal utilisation

Total production Harnessed 
steam

Reinjection

  2012      10 year average
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Total capacity 2012 (GWh) 12,312
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Age of Landsvirkjun’s power stations
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Total electricity generation 
Landsvirkjun generated 12,173 GWhrs into Landsnet’s 
transmission system in 2012, a decrease of 1.3% from 
the previous year. Hydroelectric energy accounts for 
96% of Landsvirkjun’s electrical generation and geo-
thermal energy accounts for 4%.

The operations of Landsvirkjun’s power stations were 
successful throughout the year without serious in-
cidents. There were 77 unforeseen interruptions at 
Landsvirkjun’s power stations during 2012 compared 
with 50 in the previous year. Landsvirkjun’s goal is 
to ensure that the generating units in the power sta-
tions are available 99% of the year, not accounting for 
routine maintenance periods. The goal was achieved 
this year as units were available 99.9% of the time, 
compared with 99.1% in 2011.

Safety issues are at the forefront of Landsvirkjun’s 
operations. The safety policy of the Company is re-
ferred to as the “Zero accident policy” and as the title 
implies, the aim is to take all necessary measures to 
prevent accidents. The number of ‘accident free’ days 
at the end of year 2012 was 529 and the H index was 
0. The H-index is an international comparative index 
specifying the number of work accidents resulting in 
absences, relative to the total work hours in the com-
pany in one year.

The monitoring, maintenance and refurbishment of 
operational power stations was routinely carried out 
throughout the year. Landsvirkjun operates in accor-
dance with an integrated, certified, Quality Manage-
ment and Environmental Safety Management Sys-
tem, based upon ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001 
and the Internal Electrical Safety Operation System 
(RÖSK), which fulfils the criteria set out by the Ice-
land Construction Authority on electrical safety is-
sues. Landsvirkjun has been certified as a producer of 
green electricity by the German company TÜV SÜD, 
which specialises in certification, testing and inspec-
tion. In addition, the Company’s IT Division’s safety 
management system is certified in accordance with 
ISO 27001.

A number of maintenance and refurbishment 
projects
There were 76 maintenance and refurbishment proj-
ects carried out in 2012. The most extensive proj-
ect was the installation of a new transformer at the 
Hrauneyjafoss Hydropower Station. New fins were 
installed in the draft tube of generating unit No. 2 at 
the Sultartangi Hydropower Station with the aim of 
reducing draft tube fluctuations and vibration in the 
medium output range of the generating unit. Exci-
tation systems were renewed in two of the three gen-
erating units at the Írafoss Hydropower Station and 
the second phase of repair work on spillway gates and 
concrete structures was completed at Steingrímsstöd 
Hydropower Station. The final construction work on 
the surge tank at the Laxá Hydropower Station was 
completed, landscaping work was carried out around 
the new intake structure and repair work was com-
pleted on the dam. The dams and utility structures in 
the Blanda area were repaired in conjunction with a 
number of other smaller maintenance projects.

Ageing assets call for increased asset management
Long term plans are essential where the renewal of 
equipment is concerned. These projects must be 
prioritised in accordance with the overall interests 
of the company. Effective maintenance cannot end-
lessly compensate for the advanced age of some of 
the stations eventually requiring extensive renewal. 
Landsvirkjun has established an Asset Management 
Division to oversee these matters, developing both 
short-term and long-term plans for equipment re-
newal.

The average age of Landsvirkjun’s stations is 40 
years; the youngest being 5 years old and the oldest 
75 years old. However, the average age of the stations 
is not fully relevant due to the fact that older stations 
are generally significantly smaller in scale than the 
younger generation of stations. The youngest station 
operated by Landsvirkjun is in fact the largest (690 
MW) and the oldest station in operation is the small-
est (15 MW). Over a third of the electricity generated 
by the Company is generated by stations older than 
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It is estimated that the Búdarháls Hydroelectric Station will begin to 
produce energy in late 2013. It will have an installed capacity of 95 
MW and a generating capacity of approximately 585 GWhrs per year. 
The head from Thórisvatn and down to Sultartangi will become 
fully utilised once Búdarháls becomes operational. This is in 
keeping with Landsvirkjun’s policy of maximising the potential 
yield and value of the natural resources it has been entrusted 
with, in a sustainable, responsible and efficient manner.

The Construction of Búdarháls Hydroelectric Station
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35 years, and over a third is generated by the Fljóts-
dalstöð Hydropower Station, which is five years old.

Layout of the project
The main proposal for the Búdarháls Hydroelec-
tric Power Station is to build two dams to the east of 
Búdarháls ridge, a short distance above the junction 
with the Tungnaá River and the Kaldakvísl River. One 
of the dams will be built across the Kaldakvísl River 
and the other across the outflow from the Hrauney-
jafoss Power Station. The dams will both be approxi-
mately 25 metres at their highest point and will have a 
combined total length of 1400 metres.

The dams will form the intake reservoir for Búðarháls 
and be given the name ‘Spordalda Reservoir’, with an 
estimated surface area of some 7 km2. A headrace tun-
nel, approximately 4 km long, will be excavated from 
the intake structure at the Spordalda Reservoir, west-
ward under Búdarháls ridge, to a surge basin by the 
Sultartangi Reservoir. Two 60 metre long, steel pres-

sure pipes will transport the water from the intake to 
the station’s turbines. The powerhouse will be mostly 
above ground, built into the western side of the slope 
of Búdarháls ridge. There will be two 47.5 MW Kaplan 
generating units. 

A 300 strong workforce involved in construction this year
Up to 300 on-site workers have been involved in the 
project and the measured labour force so far is around 
600 man-years. This does not include the workforce 
involved in the production of machinery and electrical 
equipment, located worldwide.

Construction work on the powerhouse and intake struc-
ture progressed successfully in 2012 and both are now 
fully constructed. Construction work on the Spordal-
da dam has also advanced at a satisfactory rate. The 
Spordalda dam will be completed by the summer of 2013.

Work on the manufacturing and installation of ma-
chinery and equipment for the Búðarhálsvirkjun 

Central reservoirs in areas of operation 2012
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> Energy generation in 2012
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Landsvirkjun’s reservoirs

Some of the country’s largest lakes are also central reservoirs 
for Landsvirkjun’s power stations. Some are naturally occuring 
lakes utilised in their natural state whilst others are manmade, 
including the Hálslón and Blöndulón Reservoirs. Th ey are both 
amongst the fi ve largest lakes in Iceland. Th e picture shows the 
average depth of the main reservoirs.

Hálslón Reservoir 36.9 m

Ufsarlón Reservoir 3 m
Hrauneyjalón Reservoir 3.8 m
Gilsárlón Reservoir 4 m
Bjarnarlón and 
Vatnsfellslón Reservoirs 5 m
Sultartangalón Reservoir 5.5 m
Blanda Reservoir 7.4 m
Kelduárlón Reservoir 8 m
Hágöngulón Reservoir 8.6 m

Krókslón Reservoir 10 m

Lake Th órisvatn 16.9 m
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Hydropower Station has for the most part been ac-
cording to schedule. The machinery and electrical 
equipment for the station has been supplied by the 
German corporation Voith Hydro, who manufacture 
equipment all over the world; in Sweden, Brazil, Chi-
na, Croatia, Italy, Spain and Germany. The erection 
of the draft tubes and the spiral cases was completed 
in 2012.

The penstocks have been designed and manufactured 
by an Icelandic company. Landsvirkjun has previ-
ously purchased penstocks for its stations from man-
ufacturers abroad. This part of the project has pro-
gressed according to schedule and the installation of 
the penstocks units was nearing completion towards 
the end of the year.

Safety issues are at the forefront of construction work 
carried out for Búdarháls. The safety policy at Site is 
referred to as the “Zero accident policy” and as the 
title implies, the aim is to take all the necessary mea-
sures to prevent accidents. The success rate has been 
high so far and all staff are encouraged to remain 
‘safety aware’ until the completion of the works.

Cornerstone laid at Búdarháls
An official ceremony was held to lay the cornerstone 
at the Búdarháls Hydroelectric Power Station on the 
26th of October, 2012. The President of Iceland, Mr 
Ólafur Ragnar Grímsson laid the cornerstone and 
then addressed the audience. Speeches were also 
given by Katrín Júlíusdóttir, Minister of Finance  
and Economic Affairs, Bryndís Hlödversdóttir, 
Chairman of the Landsvirkjun Board of Directors 
and by Gudlaugur V. Thórarinsson, Project Manager 
for the Búdarháls Hydroelectric Power Station, who 
described the layout and status of the project.

Breakthrough in Búdarháls headrace tunnel
One of the milestones in the construction of Búdar-
háls headrace tunnel was reached when explosives 
cut through the last remaining unexcavated sec-
tion of the tunnel, merging the two tunnels from 
either side of the site. The headrace tunnel is 4km 

in length and the total cross section area is approx-
imately 140 m2.

The tunnel is excavated from both ends and in two 
phases, top head and bench, as a result of the height 
within the tunnel section. The upper section was 
firstly excavated through the ridge (top head) and 
then the lower section is completed (bench).

The event resulted in the top head, breaking through 
the ridge of Búdarháls. Tunnel excavation is expected 
to reach completion by the end of the summer, 2013.

Contracts
A contract was signed with ÍAV Construction, with 
regard to the manufacturing and erection of pen-
stocks in September, 2011. A contract was signed with 
the French company Alstrom Hydro, with regard to 
the manufacturing and erection of gate equipment 
in April, 2012. A contract was also signed with the 
Portuguese company Efacec, with regard to the man-
ufacturing of generator step up transformers. All 
contracts were signed as a result of tenders released 
within the European Economic Area.

Design and Supervision
The design of the Búdarháls Hydroelectric Power 
Station has been completed in cooperation with a 
number of Icelandic engineering consultants. Efla 
hf. is providing consultancy services regarding civil 
engineering structures and is coordinating all other 
design work. Mannvit hf. is providing consultancy 
services regarding penstocks and gates and Verkís 
hf. is providing consultancy services regarding ma-
chinery and electrical equipment. The architectural 
design of Búdarháls was undertaken by the architects 
Ormar Thór Gudmundsson, Gardar Gudnason and 
Sigurdur Gústafsson, working on behalf of the firm 
OG Architects.

Supervision
Supervision of the site is the responsibility of staff 
provided by Landsvirkjun, in cooperation with staff 
supplied by the engineering consultancy firm Hnit hf.

> Energy generation in 2012
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Research, the 
Environment  
and Society

Landsvirkjun is involved in a number of research projects, 
both internally and externally. The Energy Research 
Fund awarded a total of 58 million ISK to postgraduate 
studies and independent research projects, researching 
environmental and energy affairs.

03/04



38

A N N UA L  R E P O R T  2 01 2

Our goal is to be a leader in the sustainable use of re-
newable energy sources, to facilitate and contribute 
to true expertise and to support innovative advances 
in technology development. We see tremendous op-
portunities in fostering new ideas within the com-
pany and are unafraid of venturing into unfamiliar 
and unconventional territory in order to achieve 
outstanding results. 

Wind power will play a major role in the future
Windmills have featured in tales of adventures for 
centuries, whereas the utilisation of wind power in its 
present form is relatively new. The utilisation of wind 
power has grown rapidly since the turn of the centu-
ry and has increased fifteen-fold during this period. 
In mid-2012 the installed capacity of wind turbines 
worldwide was 254 GW and continues to grow. If pre-
dictions prove accurate, wind power could account 
for nearly 850 GW of the installed capacity worldwide 
by 2025.

The demand for the increased share of renewable 
energy and rapid technological advancements has 
given this energy source a much needed boost in 
recent years. In the last 10 years the installation of 
wind turbines has more than quadrupled in Europe 
and represented an 11.4% share of Europe’s installed 
capacity in 2012. As with other renewable tech-
nologies, wind power has high initial capital costs 
with low operational costs afterwards. However, 
the capital costs have lowered in recent years and 
there are indications that this trend will continue.

Research on the use of Wind Power in Iceland – the 
installation of two 900 kW wind turbines
Landsvirkjun installed two wind turbines in De-
cember, 2012, for research and development purpos-
es. These wind turbines were the first of their kind 
in Iceland and preparation for the project had been 
on-going for the last two years. 

The purpose of the project is to evaluate the feasibil-
ity and operational security of relatively large wind 
turbines in Iceland. This includes research on how 
weather exposure will affect the turbines and how 
hydropower and geothermal energy can be utilised in 
combination with wind power in Iceland. 

The wind turbines are located in the Búrfell area in 
Thjórsárdalur, specifically in an area called Hafid, 
north of the Bjarnalón Reservoir and west of the 
Thjórsárdalur road (highway 32). The site was chosen 
after positive results from years of data collection for 
wind speed and wind direction. The two 900 kW tur-
bines are of the type E-44 from the German company 
Enercon. Construction on site began in October, 2012, 
and the wind turbines were raised in December of 
that same year.

The high average wind speed at the site is a result 
of the mountainous landscape and vast valleys in 
the area. The mountain range lies in a northeast to 
southwest direction and the wind rushes in from the 
highlands, creating a natural wind tunnel between 
the Næfurholt Mountains and Búrfell.

It was considered sufficient to install two 900 kW 
wind turbines for research purposes. The turbine 
masts reach a height of 55 metres and each blade 
measures 22 metres in length, thus reaching a height 
of 77 metres when the blades are in their highest po-
sition. Future wind turbines for electricity generation 

A Future Built upon a Foundation 
of Expertise
Research and development

Total height in metres 77

Installed capacity of wind power worldwide
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Landsvirkjun’s first wind turbines were erected this year. 
The wind turbines are manufactured by the German compa-
ny Enercon who specialise in manufacturing gearless, direct 
drive mechanism wind turbines. The turbines were designed 
by the renowned British architect, Sir Norman Foster. If they 
prove to be a success then it’s possible that more will be 
erected and wind turbines could become a part of the envi-
ronmentally friendly electricity system in Iceland.

Wind turned into wealth
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are likely to be significantly larger. For comparison 
purposes, the most powerful wind turbines in opera-
tion today are 7.5 MW. 

Connecting the Icelandic grid with Europe
Connecting the Icelandic power grid to the European 
grid via a submarine cable has been under consider-
ation for decades. In 1962, Jakob Gislason (Managing 
Director of the State Electricity Authority at the time) 
addressed the audience at the 50th anniversary of the 
Engineering Association in Iceland with the follow-
ing statement: “there is no longer any doubt that the 
export of electricity from Iceland to Scotland is tech-
nically feasible, via submarine cable.” In the same 
speech he also commented on the fact that imported 
electricity from Iceland would probably never be a 
competitive option for Europe when compared with 
energy produced by nuclear power or from fossil fu-
els. All research carried out at that time and right up 
to the turn of the century confirmed his opinion but 
new evidence refutes this and indicates that such an 
endeavour could indeed be profitable. 

Connecting the electricity grid to Europe could have a 
major impact on Icelandic society and on the econo-
my. It is therefore essential to discuss the advantages 
and disadvantages of such a project. It should be noted 
that a 15-strong advisory committee from the Minis-
try of Industries and Innovation has been appointed to 
assess the social, environmental and macroeconomic 
impact of a submarine cable in Iceland. The advisory 
committee intends to deliver an interim report to the 
Minister of Industries and Innovation in May, 2013.

Landsvirkjun’s preparation for the project is in its 
early stages and no decision has been made as to its 
progress. It is Landsvirkjun’s hope that the govern-
ment and the various stakeholders will make their 
views clear on the project in 2013 so that decisions 
can be made whether or not to advance the project to 
the next stage. It is clear that a number of domestic 
and international parties will need to be involved in 
the subsea cable project. Landsvirkjun does not in-
tend to own or operate the cable.

Recently, Landsvirkjun has been in the process of 
evaluating the best route for the proposed cable. If the 
route is assessed primarily on a financial basis, taking 
into account effects of construction time, then Scot-
land would be the most practical option, as the cost 
of the project is directly related to the length of the 
cable. Other indicators will come to influence this de-
cision, such as expectations with regard to the cost of 
electricity and the potential for ‘green revenue’.

Where would the electricity come from?
A submarine cable could utilise the so called excess 
energy already available within the current system. 
Iceland is an isolated power system and since it is al-
ready 100% renewable the size of the market is closely 
related to how much electricity is available in the dri-
est year. Thus available excess energy in wetter years 
is simply discharged over spillways. In addition, it 
should also be noted that many current customers do 
not fully utilise the energy they are entitled to, fur-
ther creating excesses.

The results of the research being carried out by 
Landsvirkjun on wind power could also be a key fac-
tor. If research shows that utilization of wind power 
is economical then it is likely that a substantial pro-
portion of the energy supply for the cable could in 
fact be sourced from wind power.

The accelerated rate of glacial melting, as a result of 
climate change, has increased the potential capac-
ity of electricity generation significantly. Utilising 
this energy will call for an increase in the capacity 
of existing hydropower plants. The efficiency of geo-
thermal power plants can be increased by utilising 
the thermal energy of effluent water to generate elec-
tricity. Both of these could provide an opportunity 
to increase efficiency in the utilisation of natural re-
sources. 

A portion of the energy transported via such a cable 
could be supplied by new geothermal and hydropow-
er projects. However, it is too early to predict just 
what proportion would be sourced from new projects 

> Research and development
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and a significant amount of the energy supply could 
come from other energy companies.

Increased energy security 
It can be assumed that the subsea cable would not 
only be used to export energy but could potentially 
be used to import energy into Iceland. This could be 
a viable option under a variety of circumstances: for 
balancing during times when wind load in the Great 
Britain system is too high, at night when energy pric-
es in Europe are low, during droughts and when stor-
age reservoirs in Iceland are critically low. Connect-
ing with the electricity grid in Europe would greatly 
increase the energy supply in Iceland, especially in 
the event of a natural disaster that could abruptly cut 
off domestic electricity generation.

Available technology
The cable used for such a project would be fundamen-
tally similar to cables laid on the ocean floor in the 
past few decades and the experience gained through 
their operation will prove valuable.

Cables have been laid in deeper waters and in more 
difficult ocean regions than before, and they keep 
getting longer. Studies conducted up until the turn 
of the last century mostly considered the option of a 
monopole cable, using the sea as a conductor, but it is 
now likely that a bipolar cable will be needed to cre-
ate a circuit. This would be done in an effort to cancel 
out the negative effects of the electromagnetic field 
and to mitigate the environmental impact during op-
erations. Using a bipolar cable would mean increased 
costs and prolonging the manufacturing and imple-
mentation stages of the project, but would increase 
the transmission capacity.

A subsea cable would give Iceland the opportunity to 
better utilise its natural resources and this would be 
consistent with Landsvirkjun’s policy of maximising 
the potential yield and value of the natural resources 
it has been entrusted with, in a sustainable, respon-
sible and efficient manner.

Climate Change Adaptation
Climate change is a reality which is and will be caus-
ing significant changes to the world as we know it. 
The retreat and melting of the glaciers is one of these 
factors and will alter the flow rate of glacial rivers 
permanently. Landsvirkjun’s hydropower stations 
will inevitably be affected by this shift.

All of Landsvirkjun’s major hydropower stations uti-
lise glacial water to generate electricity and changes 
have been observed in the average flow and flow dis-
tribution of glacial rivers in the past few decades. For 
the last ten years, Landsvirkjun has been involved in 
research on the effects of climate change on renew-
able power generation in collaboration with a num-
ber of scientists from the Nordic region. The research 
focuses on flow rates (predicted until 2050), on an-
alysing the changes that have already occurred and 
on predicting future changes and their implications. 

The present generation of Landsvirkjun’s hydropower 
stations is expected to increase by 20%, between 2005 
and 2050. The largest factor in this increase is the in-
crease in water flow of glacial rivers, where the flow 
rate in certain glacial rivers is expected to increase by  
27-84% during this period. It is not just the changes in 
flow rates that will affect capacity; the altered season-
al distribution could have even more impact. Scientists 
predict that spring floods will arrive earlier in the year 
and that longer summers will mean extended periods of 
high flow rates in glacial rivers well into the autumn pe-
riod. Together, these factors will have an effect on water 
storage utilisation and reservoirs that have been utilised 
during low flow rate periods will be needed for shorter 
periods of time throughout the year. 

The existing power station system is not equipped 
to take full advantage of a flow rate increase of this 
magnitude. If the network is not expanded, then only 
38% of this predicted additional runoff could be uti-
lised. This percentage is low when compared with 
current utilisation figures of 85%. Landsvirkjun is 
in the process of assessing the design of future pow-
er projects, in order to accommodate increased flow 

> Research and development
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rates, and is also considering capacity increases in 
existing power stations.

The issue of climate change is a matter of great impor-
tance to Landsvirkjun and research on climate change 
is now an intrinsic part of Landsvirkjun’s operations.

Power projects in harmony with the landscape
Iceland is a member of the European Landscape Con-
vention and Landsvirkjun is involved in the effort 
to develop a methodology for a landscape analytical 
technique, an assessment tool to assess the landscape 
as a whole and to determine the impact of any new 
construction projects. The method will be developed 
using an international database used by a number of 
other nations for Landscape assessment. The aim of 
the project is to increase awareness of the Icelandic 
landscape in the approach and design of new power 
projects, where manmade structures could be more 
in harmony with their surroundings. In 2012, a uni-
versity student was offered the opportunity to con-
duct research on the visual impact of the manmade 
structures at geothermal power stations and possible 
design solutions. The research focused on steam pipe-
lines and landscaping, including choice of material, 
vegetation, tourism matters and knowledge dissem-
ination. The project hopes to increase collaboration 
between Landsvirkjun and the various university 
departments involved in architecture and landscape 
architecture and planning, both domestically and in-
ternationally.

Environmental Studies 
Environmental studies are an important part of 
Landsvirkjun’s operations. A variety of environmen-
tal factors influenced by the Company’s operations 
are closely monitored. Once the decision has been 
made to initiate a new power project, high priority 
is placed on taking every step necessary to assess 
the environmental impact of the project, and this 
is a key factor in the design process. Research and a 
rich knowledge base on nature and important envi-
ronmental factors are essential in the assessment of 
the environmental impact of potential projects. The 

main focus areas of environmental research are listed 
below:
> Research on the environment: Research on 

birdlife, invertebrates, vegetation and hydrology. 
This includes research on fish stocks in the Thjórsá 
River, vegetation maps of the river channel at 
Blanda and air quality analysis in the northeast 
geothermal areas. 

> Monitoring carried out to minimise the effects of 
projects on the environment. This includes moni-
toring the effects of energy generation on the eco-
system in the Sogid area, land erosion and wind 
erosion at Blanda, the effects of the release of ef-
fluent water at Krafla, the frequency and distribu-
tion of birdlife and reindeer in the affected areas at 
Fljótsdalur and the monitoring of fish stocks in the 
reservoirs in the Thjórsá River region.

> The effectiveness and success rate of mitigation 
measures is an important factor in research. Ex-
amples of mitigation measures under evaluation 
include research on greenhouse gas emission 
binding in re-forestation and soil conservation 
projects, the analysis of dust emissions and vege-
tation changes in Hálslón, and research on salmon 
colonies above Búdafoss in the Thjórsá River fol-
lowing the instalment of a fish ladder in 1991.

Landsvirkjun is also active in a number of other re-
search projects on diverse topics. Research on issues 
that could affect operations is also an important fac-
tor. This includes meteorological, hydrological, seis-
mic and geothermal research.

Carbon neutralising
Landsvirkjun aims to be a carbon neutral company 
and works systematically to reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions in its operations. Measures include car-
bon sequestration in the ground, carbon storage in 
the soil or reforestation and the purchase of carbon 
allowances from the European Union’s emissions 
trading system. Landsvirkjun is aware that the cost 
of purchasing allowances and the cost incurred by 
the carbon storage process will be comparable in 
the future. Landsvirkjun is preparing to neutralise 



44

A N N UA L  R E P O R T  2 01 2

its carbon footprint and has entered into an agree-
ment with the Soil Conservation Service of Iceland 
and the Iceland Forest Service to provide consultation 
and access to land areas under their care.

In 2012, Landsvirkjun’s geothermal stations released 
40,000 tonnes of CO2 per year and the reservoirs for 
the hydropower stations released 13,780 tonnes. Fos-
sil fuel usage was 1,000 tonnes but other emissions 
were less than 100 tonnes. The total release of car-
bon emissions in 2012 was therefore approximately 
55,000 tonnes of CO2 equivalent, whereof 30-35,000 
tonnes contribute to release after 1990, the reference 
year of the UN Convention on Climate Change and the 
Kyoto Protocol.

According to the revised estimates of carbon seques-
tration in soil conservation and forest reclamation 
carried out by Landsvirkjun, the calculated carbon 
sequestration is approximately 20,000 tonnes per 
year. Carbon neutralisation is therefore negative by 
approximately 10-15,000 tonnes per year with re-
spect to the 1990 reference year. 

Environmental monitoring parameters of the geo-
thermal areas in the Northeast 
The surface of geothermal areas
The surface area of high-temperature areas are often 
characterised by hot springs, steam vents, colourful 
transformed rock and deposits, and are often aes-
thetically unique. Hot spring activity at the surface 
can be diverse and is affected by groundwater levels, 
rainfall and seismic activity.

Landsvirkjun has worked in collaboration with con-
sultants and researchers in monitoring the behavior 
of geothermal areas where exploratory drilling or 
geothermal utilisation is practiced. Hot springs, steam 
vents and soil and hot spring temperature levels are 
examined and mapped out in detail. Samples are taken 
from steam vents to study the chemical composition 
of the vapour and the natural flow of carbon dioxide 
in the soil is measured to scale at particular points. A 
photographic record is also kept of the entire area.

Landsvirkjun has decided to improve and update 
the mapping of surface areas of geothermal fields in 
Krafla, Bjarnarflag and Þeistareykir in collaboration 
with the Iceland Geo-survey. One of the regions will 
be specifically analysed every year alongside regular 
monitoring activities. The geothermal area in Theis-
tareykir was analysed in the summer of 2012.

Vegetation and birdlife
The long-term effects of geothermal energy harness-
ing on the ecosystem will now be researched and 
monitored by the North East Iceland Nature Centre. 
They will closely monitor the vegetation and birdlife 
in these areas. They will also monitor potential sites 
for new energy projects, including Theistareykir, 
Bjarnarflag and Krafla. Vegetation will be researched 
in all these areas and birdlife will be researched at 
Theistareykir.

Vegetation will be monitored by regularly assess-
ing the frequency and density of species and species 
groups in vegetated areas in Theistareykir. Only the 
prevalence of high temperature plant species will be 
recorded at Bjarnaflag. Birdlife monitoring includes 
meadow birds and falcons in the Theistareykir re-
gion. The density of nesting meadow birds will be de-
termined annually as well as the frequency of falcons 
and the survival rate of their young in the vicinity of 
the proposed plant at Theistareykir.

The North East Iceland Nature Centre began density 
measurements on meadow birds in the Theistarey-
kir area in 2009 and increased the frequency of this 
research in 2012, in collaboration with Landsvirkjun. 
Vegetation monitoring began with the basic mapping 
and specific location of vegetated areas in the sum-
mer of 2012. The aim is to evaluate these vegetated 
areas on a regular basis and to monitor any changes 
that may occur.

Hydrogen Sulphide
The analysis of hydrogen sulphide emissions from the 
current Bjarnarflag Geothermal Station and explo-
ration wells in Bjarnarflag has been underway since 

> Research and development
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February, 2011. The purpose of the analysis is to in-
vestigate the effects of geothermal utilization and the 
natural emission of hydrogen sulphide on air quality 
in the area surrounding the Mývatn Lake. The first 
meter was installed in the village of Reykjahlíd and 
there are plans to expand the monitoring of hydrogen 
sulphide and meteorological conditions in the area. 
Two additional hydrogen sulphide meters will be in-
stalled alongside three automatic weather stations.

The results so far show that the concentration of 
hydrogen sulphide in the atmosphere has never 
surpassed the limits set out by Regulation 514/2010 
on Hydrogen Sulphide Concentration in the Atmo-
sphere. In most cases, the concentration of hydrogen 
sulphide is rather low but can peak under certain 
weather conditions. This is most common when 
there is a slow easterly direction, and when the tem-
perature is low. Another meter has been installed at 
Eyvindarstadir in Kelduhverfi. The station is located 
in an area receiving prevailing wind direction from 
the Theistareykir area and has been active since De-
cember, 2011.

Landsvirkjun will ensure that hydrogen sulphide 
levels, caused by geothermal utilization, remain be-
low the regulated limit and has collaborated with OR 
and HS Orka to develop a method to lower hydrogen 
sulphide concentrations from geothermal power 
projects.

Groundwater
A vast amount of groundwater flows from the 
Námafjall Mountain area, or 7-11 cubic metres per 
second. The water is greatly affected by the natural 
geothermal energy in the area and this is the basis for 
the unique biota of Lake Myvatn.

Landsvirkjun and other advisory bodies maintain 
the detailed monitoring of temperature, water lev-
els and the chemical composition of groundwater in 
the vicinity of Lake Mývatn and northwards towards 
the Kelduhverfi area. The proposed plant at Bjarnar-
flag will re-inject all effluent water discharged from 

the plant well below the lake, at a depth of between 
2-400 metres. Future plans include the reinjection of 
water deep into the high temperature reservoir below 
1000 m. Approximately 70 kg/s have been successful-
ly re-injected at Krafla at a depth of 2200 metres over 
the last decade. The area is closely monitored and the 
re-injection does not seem to have significantly af-
fected seismic activity so far.

Preparation of new power projects and the Govern-
ment’s newly approved Master Plan for Hydro and 
Geothermal Energy Resources
In 2012, Landsvirkjun was in the process of assessing 
twenty potential power projects all over the country. 
The proposed parliamentary resolution on the Mas-
ter Plan for Hydro and Geothermal Energy Resourc-
es in Iceland was approved in January, 2013. The 
Master Plan ranks energy projects and divides them 
into three categories: ‘appropriate for development’, 
‘under consideration’, and ‘protected’, based upon 
the law on protection and the utilisation of ener-
gy resources. The Master Plan categorises 67 energy 
harnessing projects with 16 approved as “appropriate 
for development” projects, 31 ranked as ‘under con-
sideration’ and 20 projects categorized as ‘protected’. 
The resolution is expected to be reviewed on a four 
year basis.

Various activities continued on Landsvirkjun’s power 
projects during the processing and approval period 
of the parliamentary resolution, including the con-
struction of the Búdarháls Hydropower Project and 
continued preparation of geothermal projects in the 
northeast. However, Landsvirkjun remained sensi-
tive to the process by keeping preparation work on 
potential projects in the ‘under consideration’ and 
‘protected’ category to a minimum.

Geothermal Power Projects in the northeast at Bjarnar-
flag, Theistareykir and Krafla
Upcoming projects include preparation work on the 
potential of geothermal areas in Bjarnarflag and The-
istareykir in the northeast. The research plan and 
preparatory work conducted by Landsvirkjun has 
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been prepared with a view to beginning the con-
struction of a 45 WM phase at Bjarnarflag or Theis-
tareykir, in 2013. These projects are ranked within 
the ‘approved for development’ category of the Mas-
ter Plan.

Tender specifications, tender documentation and 
preparation work for the construction of these proj-
ects continued throughout the year and are now at 
an advanced stage. Preliminary construction work 
and infrastructure work (facilities) was carried out 
at Landsvirkjun’s site in Reykjahlíd. Samples were 
obtained from the site for soil analysis and road 
construction began to provide access to the area. 
Preparation work was carried out at Theistareykir, 
including electricity access, road construction and 
the setting up of work camp sites.

The amount of steam harnessed so far in the area is 
enough to supply 40 MW of electricity at Bjarnarflag 
and 50 MW at Theistareykir, in addition to steam 
from one borehole, drilled in 2012.

The monitoring of seismic activity continued in the 
area alongside the monitoring of underground resis-
tivity and gas emissions. Boreholes were also closely 
monitored including the discharge capacity of the 
boreholes, their productivity, the effects of re-injec-
tion and the effects of effluent water discharged into 
the groundwater system, at the geothermal stations 
at Krafla and Bjarnarflag. 

The Hvammsvirkjun, Holtavirkjun and Urridafoss  
Hydropower Projects in the Thjórsá River, below Búrfell
Landsvirkjun has carried out research and prepara-
tion work in the lower regions of the Thjórsá River 
below the Búrfell Hydropower Station for a number 
of years. The three power projects are independent of 
each other and Hvammsvirkjun will be the first proj-
ect to enter construction. The power projects are cat-
egorised as ‘under consideration’ by the Master Plan.

In 2012, plans for the proposed power projects were 
reviewed and the design of the three projects was 

altered resulting in significant reduction of capital 
costs and increased efficiency. Work was completed 
on a hydraulic model of the flood gates and a ‘Ju-
venile Fish Bypass System’ at the Urridafoss Hydro-
power Station in 2012. The results were presented 
to the main stakeholders. The Icelandic Met Office 
announced plans for a new rating curve to measure 
the water flow rate in the Thjórsá River. This new 
rating curve indicates that previous versions may 
have been underestimated which could result in re-
evaluation of the maximum flood levels for the pow-
er projects in the lower regions of the Thjórsá River.

Expanding the Búrfell Hydropower Station
A significant quantity of water is spilled at the Búr-
fell Hydropower Station. The station presently uti-
lises 87% of the available flow and it could therefore 
be said that 350 GWh of energy per year remains 
unutilised. Energy simulations show that a 70 MW 
expansion of Búrfell could increase the generation 
capacity of the station by 208 GW hours per year.

Research conducted in 2012 mainly focused on geo-
logical studies and the publication of a geological 
report. A feasibility study was carried out for the 
expansion projects, with a 70 MW underground 
powerhouse. The Company also prepared notifica-
tion documents for the Icelandic National Planning 
Agency, with regard to the proposed plans, in order 
to evaluate whether the project would be subject to 
EIA, second Appendix: Act. 106/2000.

Blanda Diversion Hydropower Project 
In June of last year an agreement was reached with 
Verkís Consulting Engineers to oversee the proj-
ect design and environmental impact assessment of 
three proposed plants in the diversion channel uti-
lised by the Blanda Hydropower Station. Research 
was conducted throughout the year including re-
search on vegetation in the Audkúluheidi heathland 
area, conducted by the Icelandic Nature Conservation 
association. The archaeology and landscape assess-
ment of the area was researched by the Settlement 
and Heritage Association of Skagafjördur. A provi-

> Research and development
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sional draft of research plans to assess environmental 
impact were introduced and should be completed be-
fore the end of 2013, in accordance with the outlined 
schedule.

Hólmsá Hydropower Project
The feasibility study of a 65 MW power station with a 
central reservoir by the Atley Island was completed in 
2010. Preparation is being carried out in collaboration 
with Orkusalan ehf with costs equally divided between 
the two parties.

In 2012, research was conducted on the project design 
and environmental impact of the proposed Hólmsá 
Hydropower Project with a view to completing the 
studies by the end of 2013. However, the results of 
the geological studies indicate that additional drill-
ing will need to be carried out at the proposed pow-
erhouse and tunnel route in order to push forward 
with the project design and environmental impact 
assessment. The work is now currently scheduled 
to reach completion at the end of 2014. The Hólmsá 
Hydropower Project is in the ‘under consideration’ 
category of the Master Plan.

Stóra Laxá Hydropower Project
The pre-feasibility study on the potential for har-
nessing the Stóra-Laxá River began in 2011 when 
Landsvirkjun was given an exploration permit for 
the potential power project sites. An agreement 
was signed with the Icelandic Met Office for im-
provements to their network of gauging stations 
and the monitoring of these stations during the 
exploratory period.

Base maps were created for the area and exact land 
measurements were taken to improve the accura-
cy of mapping. A meeting was held with the local 
council and the various stakeholders to outline the 
research and proposed plans. The harnessing of 
the Stóra Laxá River is not within the Master Plan 
for Hydro and Geothermal Energy Resources in 
Iceland as the project was not under consideration 
during the first assessment period. The project is 

likely to be assessed and categorised in phase three 
of the Master Plan.

Skrokkalda Hydropower Project
In 2012, plans were made to drill four exploration 
boreholes in order to assess the rock layers on the 
travelling route. Tender documents were sent out to 
three companies but the resulting bids were subse-
quently rejected due to the high costs involved and 
because there was not an urgent need to complete 
the project immediately. Landsvirkjun intends to 
re-release the tenders with only minor changes to 
the details of the project. An exploration permit for 
Skrokkalda Hydropower Project is in place and the 
proposed project has been categorised as ‘under con-
sideration’ by the Master Plan.

Hágöngur Geothermal Project
The geothermal area in the lower region of Kalda-
kvísl by Hágöngur in Rangárvellir is considered to 
be amongst the largest geothermal areas in Iceland. 
TEM resistivity measurements indicate that the area 
may be up to 40 km2 in size, comparable to the Krafla 
geothermal area. Based on its size and the utilisation 
figures available from other comparable geothermal 
systems in Iceland, it is estimated that the site could 
yield 250-400 MW. A deep exploratory borehole has 
been drilled and it is estimated that the steam supply 
from the hole could generate 4-5 MW of electricity. 
The area is classified as ‘under consideration’ by the 
Master Plan.

The expansion of the Kárahnjúkar Hydropower Station
Work is underway to review the energy generation 
potential at the Kárahnjúkar site. The aim of this is 
to explore various opportunities for increased energy 
production. Presently there are nine options under 
consideration, including new diversions and new 
power projects. These are only desktop studies to 
identify which options warrant further investigation. 
The expansion of Kárahnjúkar is not in the current 
Master Plan.
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Potential Power Station Projects and 
Preparation Measures

Appropriate for development

1. Bjarnarflag 1st phase Skútustadahreppur 45 369 Tender design

and 6 boreholes

2. Bjarnarflag 2nd phase Skútustadahreppur 45 369

3. Theistareykir 1st and 2nd phase Thingeyjarsveit 90 738 Tender design

and 6 boreholes

4. Theistareykir 3rd and 4th phase Thingeyjarsveit 90 738

5. Krafla II, 1st phase Skútustadahreppur 45 369 Project design 

and 7 boreholes

6. Krafla II, 2nd and 3d phase Skútustaðahreppur 90 738

7. Blanda area Húnavatnshreppur 28 178 Project design

Under consideration

8. Hvammur Rangárthing Ytra, Skeida- 82 665 Tender design

and Gnúpverjahreppur

9. Holt Rangárthing Ytra, Skeida- 53 415 Tender design

and Gnúpverjahreppur

10. Urridafoss Ásahreppur, Flóahreppur, 130 980 Tender design

Rangárthing ytra, Skeida- 

and Gnúpverjahreppur

11. Hólmsá-Atley Skaftárhreppur 65 480 Project design

12. Skrokkalda Ásahreppur, 45 345 Feasibility

Rangárthing ytra

13. Skatastadir Akrahreppur 156 1090 Feasibility

Sveitarf. Skagafjördur

14. Hágöngur 1st phase Ásahreppur, 45 369 Surface study and

Rangárthing ytra one borehole

15.
Hágöngur 2nd and 3rd phase Ásahreppur,

Rangárthing ytra
90 738

Protected

16. Nordlingaalda Skeida- and - 605 Project design

Gnúpverjahreppur, 

17. Bjalli Rangárthing Ytra 46 340 Feasibility

18. Tungnaá reservoir, 600 Gl Rangárthing Ytra - 270 Feasibility

Skaftárhreppur

19. Gjástykki Adaldælahreppur, 45 369 Surface study and

Kelduneshreppur, and one basic hole

Skútustadahreppur

GWh  
per year

Status of 
preparation workNo. Project Municipality Power
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  Appropriate for development      Under consideration      Protected      Not included in the Master Plan   

Location of power projects and their capacity

Outside the Master Plan

20. Búrfell II Skeida- and 70 210 Project design

Gnúpverjahreppur

21. Stóra Laxá Skeida- and Gnúpverjahreppur, 30 180 Feasibility

Hrunamannahreppur

7

21

1-2

13

14-1516

17 18

11

208
9

10

12

5-6

3-4

19
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Making a Good Company Better 
Social Responsibility

Corporations play an important role in society. 
By integrating social and environmental issues 
into our business we can contribute to sustain-
able development. At Landsvirkjun we take our 
role in society seriously. We have established an 
ambitious strategy on corporate social respon-
sibility which states that it is our role to create 
value, to respect and protect natural resources 
and the environment and to share our expertise 
in order to effectively contribute to society.

Social Responsibility is the key to our success
Landsvirkjun has traditionally been involved in 
working with social and environmental issues. In 
recent years we have systematically worked to-
wards addressing our social responsibility and a 
milestone was reached in November, 2011, when a 
CSR strategy was approved by Landsvirkjun’s Ex-
ecutive Board.

The strategy is inspired by the Company’s strategy 
since 2010. It emphasises the need to maximise the 
potential yield and value of the natural resources 
we have been entrusted with in a sustainable, re-
sponsible and efficient manner. It also points out 
that consensus and support from the various stake-
holders can only be achieved with open commu-
nication. In the past, many milestones have been 
reached using this approach. The development of a 
CSR strategy was led by a steering committee es-
tablished in the autumn of 2010. The steering com-
mittee was comprised of representatives from all 
divisions of Landsvirkjun. The steering committee 
conducted a stakeholder and risk analysis which 
fed into the strategy. The new strategy was exten-
sively communicated within the company before 
being officially approved by the Executive Board of 
Landsvirkjun in November 2011 and publicly intro-
duced at the Company’s Autumn Meeting.

The strategy is divided into the following sections: 
Corporate governance, the value chain, environ-
ment, society, health and safety and knowledge 
dissemination. Subsequently, six focus groups 

were established in order to define the main goals 
of each section and to propose an action plan. The 
ISO 26000 was used as a guideline in this work.

The proposals for each section of the social respon-
sibility strategy were completed by the end of 2012 
and a director of social responsibility was appoint-
ed to implement the strategy. Objectives for 2013 
include defining key focus areas and prioritising 
objectives for the short and long term, the imple-
mentation of standards, as well as a more focused 
approach to working with the various stakeholders 
of the company.

Social  
Responsibility

Business
Corporate  

governance
Value chain

Health and safety

Environment
Environmental 

issues

Society
Social issues
Knowledge  

dissemination

Landsvirkjun’s social responsibility is to create value, to 
respect and protect natural resources and the environ-
ment and to share our expertise in order to effectively 
contribute to society.

Landsvirkjun’s social responsibility
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At Landsvirkjun, social responsibility involves giving equal 
deference to society, the environment and business matters.
Landsvirkjun’s role is to create value, to respect and protect 
natural resources and the environment and to share our 
expertise in order to effectively contribute to society. The 
cooperation between Landsvirkjun and the Mývatn Nature 
Baths is a prime example of how the Company can work in 
collaboration with projects in its areas of operation.

Mývatn Nature Baths
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1. Corporate Governance
A focus group on corporate governance was estab-
lished to assess Landsvirkjun’s position on good 
governance. The company already has an integrated 
management system certified according to the var-
ious ISO standards, including a Quality System (ISO 
9001), an Environmental Management System (ISO 
14001), an Occupational Health and Safety Manage-
ment System (OHSAS 18001) and an Information 
Security Management System (ISO 27001). More-
over, Landsvirkjun has been certified as a producer 
of green electricity by the German company TÜV 
SÜD, which specialises in certification, testing and 
inspection. Landsvirkjun has also implemented op-
erational regulations and a risk assessment strategy.

There is still room for further progress in the field 
of governance, the most prominent factors being the 
definition and implementation of a code of conduct 
for employees, and a formal evaluation of the gover-
nance of the Company.

Objectives for 2013: Definition and implementation of 
a code of conduct for Landsvirkjun.

2. Value Chain
A focus group addressing issues relating to the val-
ue chain analysed the Company’s relationship with 
suppliers, contractors, service providers and other 
stakeholders with a view to assessing what reason-
able and realistic requirements could be made. Since 
2006, Landsvirkjun has made requirements and 
recommendations to contractors and service pro-
viders, relating to environmental and safety issues.

Objectives for 2013: Revision of the policy for con-
tractors and service providers with respect to 
Landsvirkjun’s new policy on social responsibility.  
 
 
 
 

3. Environment
A focus group on environmental affairs examined 
how Landsvirkjun could:
> minimise the environmental impact of its opera-

tions
> place an emphasis on the sustainable use of 

natural resources 
> work in accordance with international best prac-

tices for environmental management
> develop and choose projects that work in harmo-

ny with nature

Responsible environmental management is at the 
core of Landsvirkjun’s operations. The company has 
worked in accordance with ISO 14001 (Environmen-
tal Management System) since 2006 and has fol-
lowed an environmental policy that emphasises an 
awareness of the Company’s environmental impact 
and strives to minimise this impact. Further infor-
mation on Landsvirkjun’s environmental manage-
ment system can be found in the Company’s annual 
Environmental Report. 

In 2012 the first assessment of the sustainable utili-
sation of hydropower was carried out in 2012 by the 
International Hydropower association, using the 
HSAP Protocol (Hydro Power Sustainability Assess-
ment Protocol). The results showed that Landsvirk-
jun meets the requirements of good practice in 20 
out of 21 assessed topics. The assessment revealed 
that further progress could be made in the area of 
communication and stakeholder engagement.

Landsvirkjun is preparing to reduce its carbon 
emissions. This will require the implementation 
of more extensive measures than those already in 
place. Landsvirkjun is in the process of outlining 
procedures and objectives with regard to environ-
mental issues in line with the policy on social re-
sponsibility.
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Objectives for 2013:
> Improved stakeholder engagement and communi-

cation practices at all levels, with regard to environ-
mental issues in order to ensure that all operational 
procedures are in accordance with the requirements 
set out for ‘Good Practice’ by the HSAP.

> Minimising the environmental impact of geother-
mal energy projects during the initial investiga-
tion phase and the preparation stage.

> Reducing greenhouse gas emissions and carbon 
emissions by implementing carbon-capturing 
measures on a larger scale.

4. Society
A focus group on societal issues examined how 
Landsvirkjun could further improve communi-
cation and cooperation with the communities in 
which it operates. It considered measures for en-
suring transparency in working procedures and 
how it could promote and support the interactive 
communication of information. It also assessed how 
the Company could actively assess and work in the 
interest of society. 

The focus group analysed and outlined the various 
partnerships with stakeholders across the country 
including direct cooperation, consultation groups 
and grant based partnerships. These include grants 
through the Landsvirkjun Energy Research Fund, 
Landsvirkjun’s Community Fund, the operation of 
the sustainability project run by Landsvirkjun and 
Alcoa, partnerships with educational institutions, 
landowners, fishing associations and other stake-
holders. The focus group concluded that there were 
no defined consultation plans for the next project 
cycle and that communication with the various 
stakeholders could be made more transparent and 
effective.

Objectives for 2013: Developing a communication plan 
for stakeholders in new geothermal projects in the 
northeast of Iceland. 

5. Health and Safety 
The focus group discussed how Landsvirkjun could 
improve procedures related to health and safety and 
human resources issues. Landsvirkjun has achieved 
good results in various fields which reflect the effec-
tive practices implemented which give prominence to 
health and safety issues. This year, 529 days elapsed 
between incidents (in this case ‘incident’ applies to an 
accident resulting in the absence of an employee from 
work). Absence from work due to illness was also at an 
all-time low at Landsvirkjun and all new staff mem-
bers received training with regard to health and safe-
ty, as well as access to annual health check-ups. The 
changing face of Landsvirkjun’s role and values sys-
tem has an undeniable effect on how human resourc-
es issues are managed. Last year, all work practices 
within the Human Resources Division were reviewed 
and a number of new projects were established in or-
der to reflect the new role of the Company in the most 
effective manner possible.

Objectives for 2013: The complete review of Landsvirk-
jun’s Human Resources Strategy in order to effective-
ly represent the Company’s new role and values.

6. Knowledge Dissemination 
The focus group discussed how Landsvirkjun could in-
crease the effectiveness of knowledge dissemination, 
in an effort to support innovation and development in 
society and to benefit the company. Landsvirkjun al-
ready shares its expertise in a variety of ways, although 
this work has not yet been fully formalized within the 
Company. These measures include sharing research 
results, open seminars and meetings on specific top-
ics, lectures by university staff, conferences, research 
papers and theses (produced by students working in 
collaboration with the company) and participation in 
the Global Entrepreneurship Week.

Objectives for 2013: Developing collaboration oppor-
tunities with the various universities in Iceland, to 
support knowledge sharing in the field of renewable 
energy sources.
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Progressiveness, prudence and reliability 
Human Resources

The Human Resources Division has initiated a num-
ber of strategic projects throughout 2012. The portfo-
lio of processes within the division was thoroughly 
reviewed, using the Lean Management technique, 
and over 180 opportunities for development were 
identified.

The central approach to reviewing and further devel-
oping the role of Human Resources included an em-
phasis on openness and transparency. Over 20% of the 
Company’s employees took part in the workshops, were 
the practises were analysed and explored and potential 
opportunities were uncovered. Human resources is a 
fundamental part of Landsvirkjun‘s operations and is 
by no means limited to one division. It serves the inter-
ests of all employees within the Company.

Workshops on company values
Almost half of Landsvirkjun’s employees participated 
in workshops intended for the purpose of discussing 
the core values of the Company. The groups encour-
aged their members to exchange their views on how 
the values of prudence, progressiveness and reliabil-
ity were reflected in their daily work practises. The 
workshops were comprised of a variety of people, dif-
fering in rank, occupation and geographical location, 
resulting in an integrated approach to embedding our 
values even deeper into the Company’s daily opera-
tions.

Workshops:
Landsvirkjun defines progressiveness as:
> Being aware of the opportunities presented by the 

challenges ahead and setting formidable goals
> Advancing fearlessly, but with caution 
> Embracing innovation, and the courage to change 

your mind
> Seeking out collaboration that strengthens Lands-

virkjun’s operations
> Improving education in key areas and promoting 

the sustainable use of resources

Landsvirkjun defines prudence as:
> Ensuring effective preparation, careful planning, 

active communication and a cooperative strategy 
in all projects undertaken at Landsvirkjun.

> Seeking out the most efficient long term solutions, 
in establishing a budget and timeframe for each 
project.

> Consistently handling natural resources in a sus-
tainable and efficient manner.

Landsvirkjun defines reliability as:
>   The knowledge that our projects are not immune 

to criticism and that we must value the opinion of 
others.

>   The responsibility to act with integrity, responsi-
bility and fairness towards our customers, busi-
ness partners and competitors.

>   Our duty to constantly strive to improve and find 
new and better ways in handling our natural 
resources.

>   Our commitment to ensure that our production is 
safe.

 
Strategy development through employee engagement
Our employees are the key to developing operations 
and regularly provide creative input on the develop-
ment of the Company’s strategy. Landsvirkjun active-
ly seeks out the opinion of its employees and employs 
various measures to do so effectively, including sur-
veys, workshops and direct participation in meetings, 
where central issues are tackled. Recently, over 60 
employees took part in a meeting to outline the Com-
pany’s future vision. This will be repeated annually, 
in order to ensure open communication and input 
from a wider group, so that the Company’s strategy 
can successfully embrace the challenges ahead.

Growth reflected by new appointments
Like many energy companies, Landvirkjun is now fac-
ing the reality of losing many of its experts to retire-
ment. Many of these individuals have been involved in 
building the foundation of the Company and have vast 
expertise and experience in their field. The Company 
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Landsvirkjun strives to provide a progressive working envi-
ronment that inspires excellence, dedication and proficiency, 
in order to engage people who are the best in their field. Our 
vision is to build a diverse working environment, where differ-
ing cultures and ideas will thrive.

In partnership with society
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is in the process of filling the ranks of retired staff with 
a younger generation of innovative and highly capable 
employees, ensuring that the experience and exper-
tise built up over decades of operation, is not lost in 
the process. The Company is exploring new avenues in 
energy production and will leave ‘no stone unturned’ 
in its support for progress in the field. There were over 
50 recruitments and strategic transfers in 2012. This 
means that one in five employees is either new to the 
Company or is transferring his or her prior knowledge 
and experience to new positions within Landsvirkjun.

Various figures 
Total labour costs were just over 3.4 billion, including 
holiday and pension obligation. There were 240 full 
time employees at the beginning of the year, with the 
exception of board members, students and other tem-
porary employees. The average number of employees 
during the year was 334 but this total is heavily in-
fluenced by the 227 (at peak) temporary staff mem-
bers employed for the summer. The total number of 
employees on the payroll at the end of the year was 
259, filling 252.4 full time positions. A total of 247 em-
ployees were in permanent employment at the end of 
the year and a total of 515 people were paid salaries 
during the year.

The average age of permanent employees at year-end 
was 50.3 years and the average length of service was 
13 years. The turnover rate was 8.35%. University 
graduates were 108 employees or 44% of the work 
force. The average number of sick days per employ-
ee was 4.5 days. An interesting development is the 
average length of service, which has lowered by one 
year from the previous year; a first in Landsvirkjun’s 
history. The average age of employees has also fallen 
sharply.

Summer employment for young people
Landsvirkjun has for decades taken pride in offering 
summer employment to young people between the 
ages of 16–20. They attend to various maintenance 
and environmental projects for Landsvirkjun’s sites, 
all over the country. There were 430 applications this 

Length of service 

Age range

0-1 years

- 29

1-4 years

30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69

5-9 years 10 years 
or more Total

Total

  2011      2012

  2011      2012

250

250

200

200

150

150

100

100

50

50

0

0

year and 151 were accepted; 77 young men and 74 
young women.

In recent years Landsvirkjun has run an enterprise that 
goes by the name of “many hands make light work” 
where they offer their partnership (and summer staff) 
to local projects, promoting the development of tour-
ism and environmental issues in the areas involved. 
There were 45 applications, from all over the country, 
from NGOs, individuals, sports clubs, government 
agencies, municipalities and national parks.

There were a total of 232 applications received from 
university students seeking out temporary summer 
positions. Of these, 64 students were accepted; 24 
men and 40 women, employed to attend to a number 
of important maintenance and environmental proj-
ects for Landsvirkjun, all over the country. Lands-
virkjun’s policy is to employ talented individuals with 
the relevant education and to ensure gender equality.
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Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements 

The financial statements of Landsvirkjun for the year 
2012 are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
EU. The functional currency of the Company is USD.

04/04
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Amounts are in USD thousand

Key figures
Management’s presentation of the operation of Landsvirkjun 

Operation 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 

Operating revenues 389,499 419,708 383,991 299,788 452,027

Realised aluminium hedges 18,325 16,488 (6,342) 42,526 (54,759)

Total operating revenues 407,824 436,196 377,649 342,314 397,268

Operating expenses (88,225) (90,993) (79,564) (70,655) (100,512)

EBITDA 319,599 345,203 298,085 271,659 296,756

Depreciation and impairment loss (112,288) (108,200) (107,258) (114,321) (105,532)

EBIT 207,311 237,003 190,827 157,338 191,224

Financial items (103,093) (126,877) (99,275) (96,102) (142,452)

Associated companies (2,229) (4,014) (1,581) (11,193) (4,100)

Profit before unrealised financial items 101,989 106,112 89,971 50,043 44,672

Unrealised financial items:

Fair value changes in embedded derivatives (3,391) (93,197) (55,583) 253,304 (497,167)

Fair value changes in other derivatives 13,653 6,959 (39,438) (53,655) 186,284

Unrealised foreign exchange difference (12,675) 22,711 87,619 (39,752) (148,369)

(2,413) (63,527) (7,402) 159,897 (459,252)

Profit (loss) before income tax 99,576 42,585 82,569 209,940 (414,580)

Income tax (45,370) (16,135) (9,653) (16,944) 70,048

Profit (loss) 54,206 26,450 72,916 192,996 (344,532)

Balance sheet

Total assets 4,518,534 4,635,989 4,850,037 4,807,970 4,621,384

Equity 1,697,152 1,661,312 1,644,322 1,564,487 1,376,792

Liabilities  2,821,382 2,974,677 3,205,715 3,243,483 3,244,592

Net liabilities * 2,435,571 2,502,873 2,673,966 2,823,872 2,850,276

Cash flow

Funds from operations (FFO) 241,584 255,592 218,582 202,142 207,297

Cash flow from operating activities 236,178 267,172 229,595 197,023 184,350

Investing activities (122,979) (107,689) (53,517) (120,533) (374,797)

Financing activities (151,670) (185,328) (106,294) (4,572) 168,586

Liquidity   

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 187,916 229,942 265,532 194,248 124,993

Undrawn loans 409,979 415,767 307,676 281,600 350,000

Total liquidity 597,895 645,709 573,208 475,848 474,993

Key ratios 

Return on equity 3.3% 1.6% 4.7% 14.0% (21.5%)

Equity ratio 37.6% 35.8% 33.9% 32.5% 29.8%

Interest cover (EBITDA/net interest expenses) 3.25x 3.06x 3.68x 3.14x 1.83x

FFO / net liabilities 9.9% 10.2% 8.2% 7.2% 7.3%

FFO / interest expenses 2.36x 2.19x 2.58x 2.19x 1.17x

Net liabilities / EBITDA 7.62x 7.25x 8.97x 10.39x 9.60x

Credit rating at year end

Standard & Poor’s BB BB BB+ BB BBB-

Moody’s Baa3 Baa3 Baa3 Baa3 Baa1
* Net liabilities are interest bearing long-term liabilities less cash and restricted deposits
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Quarterly statement 2012
Management’s presentation of the operation of Landsvirkjun, contd.

Operating revenues Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Power sales 87,014 81,253 79,121 90,854 338,242

Realised aluminium hedges 1,775 7,651 6,137 2,762 18,325

Transmission 11,490 10,715 10,609 11,543 44,357

Other income 1,326 1,656 2,192 1,726 6,900

101,605 101,275 98,059 106,885 407,824

Operating expenses

Energy production costs 7,592 8,005 8,973 8,184 32,754

Transmission costs 4,243 4,254 4,699 9,708 22,904

Cost of general research 1,369 1,960 1,422 1,190 5,941

Other operating expenses 6,304 6,002 7,063 7,257 26,626

Depreciation and impairment loss 26,434 25,957 25,970 33,927 112,288

45,942 46,178 48,127 60,266 200,513

Operating profit 55,663 55,097 49,932 46,619 207,311

Financial income and (expenses)

Interest income  1,475 872 1,518 149 4,014

Interest expenses  (29,662) (27,853) (19,975) (24,779) (102,269)

Realised foreign exchange differences (5,703) (1,495) (2,882) 5,242 (4,838)

(33,890) (28,476) (21,339) (19,388) (103,093)

Associated companies (702) (837) (1,042) 352 (2,229)

Profit before income tax and unrealised items 21,071 25,784 27,551 27,583 101,989

Unrealised financial items:

Fair value changes in embedded derivatives 16,504 (83,924) 89,301 (25,272) (3,391)

Fair value changes in other derivatives 20,002 (7,763) (1,837) 3,251 13,653

Unrealised foreign exchange difference (30,303) 52,321 (23,675) (11,018) (12,675)

6,203 (39,366) 63,789 (33,039) (2,413)

Profit (loss) before income tax 27,274 (13,582) 91,340 (5,456) 99,576

Income tax (10,481) 5,298 (31,826) (8,361) (45,370)

Profit (loss) 16,793 (8,284) 59,514 (13,817) 54,206

Attributable to: 

Owners of the parent company 17,275 (9,427) 57,309 (13,212) 51,945

Subsidiaries minority interest (482) 1,143 2,205 (605) 2,261

16,793 (8,284) 59,514 (13,817) 54,206

From cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities 57,010 61,077 46,290 71,801 236,178

Other key metrics for Landsvirkjun (parent company) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Installed power at year end (MW) 1,860 1,860 1,860 1,860 1,860

Average price for industrial users (incl. transm.) USD/MWh 26,2 28,7 25,7 19,5 30,8

Average price for retail sales comp. (excl. transm.) ISK/kWh 3,9 3,6 3,4 3,2 3,0

Sales in Gwh 12,770 12,778 12,926 12,546 12,746

Research and development 32,514 17,203 19,575 23,601 48,363

Accident frequency: H200* 0,0 0,4 1,4 1,1 0,4

* H200 is the number of absence accidents per each 200,000 working hours
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Endorsement by the Board of Directors and CEO

Landsvirkjun’s objective is to operate in the energy sector and to engage in other business and 
financial operations in accordance with decisions of the Board of Directors. The Company’s 
consolidated financial statements include, in addition to the parent company, four subsidiaries, 
Landsnet hf., Orkufjarskipti hf., Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd. and Landsvirkjun Power ehf., 
in addition to three subsidiaries of Landsvirkjun Power ehf. During the year Hraunaveita ehf. 
was sold to Landsvirkjun Power ehf. and Theistareykir ehf. was merged with Landsvirkjun.

The financial statements of Landsvirkjun for the year 2012 are prepared in accordance with Int-
ernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. The functional currency 
of the Company is USD and amounts in the financial statements are rounded to the nearest 
thousand USD.

The Group’s operating income amounted to USD 407.8 million in the year 2012 compared to USD 
436.2 million in the previous year. Income thus decreased by USD 28.4 million. The decrease is 
mainly explained by lower aluminium prices, despite being partly offset by power contracts 
linked to general price development. Revenue recognition due to realised aluminium hedges 
amounted to USD 18.3 million in the year 2012 compared to USD 16.5 million in the previous 
year. Operating expenses amounted to USD 200.5 million in the year 2012 compared to USD 
199.2 million in the year 2011. The Company’s operating profit thus amounted to USD 207.3 
million in the year 2012 compared to USD 237.0 million in the previous year. 

Financial expenses in excess of financial income amounted to USD 105.5 million in the year 
2012, compared to USD 190.4 million the previous year. The change between years amounts 
to USD 84.9 million. The main reasons for this difference between years are fair value changes 
in derivative financial instruments. Fair value changes in derivative financial instruments are 
mostly unrealised, which must be kept in mind in the evaluation of the Company’s return for 
the year. Profit before unrealised financial items amounted to USD 102.0 million during the year 
compared to USD 106.1 million in the year 2011. According to the income statement, profit of the 
year amounted to USD 54.2 million compared to USD 26.5 million in the previous year.

Landsvirkjun employs derivative agreements in order to manage risk. Agreements have been 
made due to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. In addition, derivative agreements have 
been made in order to hedge risk due to fluctuations of aluminium prices in the global market 
due to portion of revenues being linked to aluminium prices. Positive fair value of aluminium 
hedges to ensure the Company’s revenues amounted to USD 10.0 million at year end 2012. Fair 
value of currency and interest rate swap derivative agreements at year end 2012 was negative 
by USD 48.4 million. Fair value of embedded derivatives in Landsvirkjun’s electric power sales 
agreements with aluminium companies after deducting the fair value of embedded derivatives 
in electric power purchase agreements is positive with a fair value of USD 270.8 million at year 
end 2012.

According to the balance sheet, equity at year end 2012 amounted to USD 1,697.2 million 
compared to USD 1,661.3 million at year end 2011. The Company’s Board of Directors proposes 
that the profit of the year be recognised as an increase in equity. The Company’s Board of 
Directors will propose during the Annual General Meeting a dividend payment to the owners 
of the company, but otherwise refers to the notes to the financial statements and statement 
of equity for further changes in equity. Landsvirkjun is a partnership owned by the State and 
Eignarhlutir ehf. The State owns 99.9% in the Company and Eignarhlutir ehf. 0.1%.

The financial position of the Company is acceptable and its liquidity position is strong due to its 
cash balance and access to undrawn loans. Cash and cash equivalents at year end amounted to 
USD 187.9 million and undrawn Revolving Credit Facilities to USD 281.6 million.  Furthermore, 
undrawn long-term loans amount to USD 128.4 million. Liquid assets amounted thus to USD 
597.9 million at year end. Cash flow from operations amounted to USD 236.2 million. Lands-
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virkjun borrowed USD 16.6 million in the year and paid down debt by USD 155.5 million. Cash 
and cash equivalents decreased by USD 42.0 million during the year. It is the opinion of Lands-
virkjun’s management that access to liquid assets is ensured until year end 2014. The const-
ruction of Búdarháls power plant is on schedule.

Following the State’s purchase of a share in Landsvirkjun held by the city of Reykjavík and the 
town of Akureyri, an agreement was reached stipulating that the city of Reykjavík and the town 
of Akureyri would provide a guarantee of collection together with the State for all of Lands-
virkjun’s obligations entered into before the end of 2006. From the beginning of 2007, the State 
and Eignarhlutir ehf. provide a guarantee of collection for all of Landsvirkjun’s obligations 
entered into after that date in accordance with the Act on Landsvirkjun. According to the 
agreement, the State guarantees the city of Reykjavík and the town of Akureyri indemnity after 
1 January 2012 with respect to a guarantee of obligations entered into before 1 January 2007. 
The Company’s payments due to guarantees for long-term loans amounted to USD 9.6 million 
in 2012. 

Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors of Landsvirkjun endeavours to maintain good corporate governance in 
line with the Guidelines on Corporate Governance issued by the Icelandic Chamber of Com-
merce in collaboration with the Confederation of Icelandic Employers and Nasdaq OMX Iceland. 
The Board of Directors has established detailed working procedures for the Board, wherein its 
competence and purview with respect to the CEO is defined. The Board of Directors has ap-
pointed an Audit Committee. In the year 2012, 16 Board meetings were held and three meetings 
in the Audit Committee. Meetings have been attended by the majority of the Board of Directors 
and the majority of the Audit Committee. Landsnet hf. has disclosed information on corporate 
governance in its financial statements. Further information on the parent company’s corporate 
governance is included in notes 47 to 55 and in an appendix to the financial statements.
  
Statement of the Board of Directors and the CEO
According to the best knowledge of the Board of Directors and the CEO, the financial statements 
are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
it is the opinion of the Board of Directors and the CEO that the financial statements give a fair 
view of the Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position on 31 December, 2012 and the 
Company’s results and changes in cash in the year 2012.

Furthermore, it is the opinion of the Board of Directors and the CEO that the financial 
statements and the Endorsement by the Board of Directors for the year 2012 give a fair view of 
the Company’s results, financial position and development and describe the main risk factors 
faced by the Company.

The Board of Directors and the CEO hereby confirm these consolidated financial statements 
with their signature.

Reykjavik, 22 February 2013
 
The Company’s Board of Directors:   CEO:
 Bryndís Hlödversdóttir   Hördur Arnarson
 Sigurbjörg Gísladóttir
 Arnar Bjarnason
 Ingimundur Sigurpálsson
 Stefán Arnórsson
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Directors and owners of Landsvirkjun

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Landsvirkjun, which comprise 
the balance sheet as at 31 December, 2012, and the income statement, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing, and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
principles used and the soundness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of Landsvirkjun as at 31 December, 2012, and of its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU. 

Confirmation of the Endorsement by the Board of Directors and the CEO
In accordance with provisions of Article 106, Para 1, Number 5 of Act no. 3/2006 on financial 
statements, we confirm according to our best knowledge that the Endorsement by the Board 
of Directors and the CEO accompanying these financial statements include information as 
decreed by the Financial Statements Act.

Reykjavik, 22 February 2013.

KPMG ehf.  
 Árni Claessen
 Audur Thórisdóttir
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Income Statement for 2012

Operating revenues Notes 2012 2011 

Power sales 338,242 366,049

Realised aluminium hedges 18,325 16,488

Transmission 44,357 46,894

Other income 6,900 6,765

407,824 436,196

Operating expenses

Energy production costs 115,770 122,261

Transmission costs 41,244 39,128

Cost of general research 13,941 7,654

Other operating expenses 29,558 30,150

200,513 199,193

Operating profit 207,311 237,003

Financial income and (financial expenses)

Interest income 4,014 4,127

Interest expenses (102,269) (116,844)

Foreign exchange difference (17,513) 8,561

Fair value changes in embedded derivatives 49 (3,391) (93,197)

Fair value changes in other derivatives  13,653 6,959

Fair value changes in shares 0 (9)

25 (105,506) (190,404)

Associated companies 31 (2,229) (4,014)

Profit before taxes 99,576 42,585

Income tax 26 (45,370) (16,135)

Net profit for the year 54,206 26,450

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent company 51,945 23,921

Subsidiaries minority interest 2,261 2,529

54,206 26,450

Notes 1 to 57 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Amounts are in USD thousand

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 2012

2012 2011 

Profit for the year 54,206 26,450 

Operating items moved to equity

Translation difference due to functional currency (4,145) (9,461)

Total operating items moved to equity (4,145) (9,461)

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 50,061 16,989 

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent company 49,631 16,831 

Subsidiaries minority interest 430 158 

50,061 16,989

Notes 1 to 57 are an integral part of these financial statements.      
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Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2012

Assets Notes 2012 2011 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 27 3,476,284 3,585,637 

Projects under construction 27 151,509 71,883 

Intangible assets 28 233,563 207,415 

Derivative financial instruments 30 270,076 289,569 

Associated companies 31 20,103 22,406 

Other non-current assets 32 3,224 106 

Deferred tax asset 34 56,218 100,716 

Total non-current assets 4,210,977 4,277,732 

Current assets

Inventories 35 4,186 4,096 

Accounts receivables and other receivables 36 72,896 75,077 

Derivative financial instruments 30 41,591 40,891 

Restricted deposits 37 968 8,251 

Cash and cash equivalents 37 187,916 229,942 

Total current assets 307,557 358,257 

Total assets 4,518,534 4,635,989 

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Owners’ contribution 38 586,512 586,512 

Revaluation account 39 98,281 101,983 

Translation difference 39 (37,233) (34,919)

Other equity 1,013,216 971,791 

Equity of the owners of the parent company 1,660,776 1,625,367 

Minority interest 36,376 35,945 

Total equity 1,697,152 1,661,312 

Long-term liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 40 2,416,004 2,612,256 

Accrued pension liabilities 42 23,228 23,238 

Deferred tax liability 34 14,550 13,565 

Obligation due to demolition 43 5,704 5,673 

Prepaid income 2,336 1,051 

Derivative financial instruments 30 60,232 86,018 

2,522,054 2,741,801 

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and other payables 44 71,845 75,388 

Interest bearing liabilities 41 208,451 128,810 

Derivative financial instruments 30 19,032 28,678 

299,328 232,876 

Total liabilities 2,821,382 2,974,677 

Total equity and liabilities 4,518,534 4,635,989
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Statement of Equity for the year 2012

Notes 1 to 57 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Owners’ 
contribution

Revaluation
account

Translation 
difference Other equity

Equity  
attributable 

to the owners 
of the parent 

company
Minority 
interest Total equity

Changes in equity year 2011

Equity at 1 January 2011 586,512 105,056 (27,829) 944,797 1,608,536 35,786 1,644,322 

Translation difference (7,090) (7,090) (2,371) (9,461)

Profit for the year 23,921 23,921 2,529 26,450 

Total profit for the year (7,090) 23,921 16,831 158 16,989 

Revaluation transferred
to other equity (3,072) 3,072 0 0 0 

Equity at 31 December 2011 586,512 101,983 (34,919) 971,791 1,625,367 35,945 1,661,312 

Changes in equity year 2012

Equity at 1 January 2012 586,512 101,983 (34,919) 971,791 1,625,367 35,945 1,661,312 

Translation difference (2,314) (2,314) (1,831) (4,145)

Profit for the year 51,945 51,945 2,261 54,206 

Total profit for the year (2,314) 51,945 49,631 430 50,061 

Revaluation transferred
to other equity (3,702) 3,702 0 0 0 

Dividend paid to owners (14,221) (14,221) 0 (14,221)

Equity at 31 December 2012 586,512 98,281 (37,233) 1,013,216 1,660,776 36,376 1,697,152
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Statement of Cash Flow for 2012

Notes 1 to 57 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes 2012 2011 

Operating activities   

Operating profit 207,311 237,003

Adjusted for:

Depreciation and impairment loss 112,288 108,200

Pension obligation, change 1,108 1,303

Obligation due to demolition, change 306 (486)

Other changes 1,359 915

Working capital from operations before financial items 322,372 346,935

Operating assets and liabilities, change (1,605) 6,797

Cash flow from operating activities before financial items 320,767 353,732

Interest income received 4,629 4,847

Interest expenses and foreign exchange difference paid (89,218) (91,407)

Cash flow from operating activities 46 236,178 267,172

Investing activities

Hydropower stations in operation (7,217) (6,012)

Hydropower stations in construction (68,131) (51,158)

Transmission (16,005) (5,793)

Development costs for power plants (29,687) (25,793)

Purchased shares (1,740) (6,965)

Dividend received from associated company 12 78

Other capital expenditure (10,684) (7,711)

Assets sold 2,090 4,857

Unpaid construction cost, change 2,432 (5,873)

Other receivables, change 5,951 (3,319)

Investing activities (122,979) (107,689)

Financing activities

Dividends paid to owners (14,221) 0

New loans 16,640 310,557

Amortisation of long-term debt (155,516) (483,807)

Currency swaps 0 (13,559)

Short-term loans, change 0 370

Prepaid income, change 1,427 1,111

Financing activities (151,670) (185,328)

Change in cash and cash equivalents
 

(38,471) (25,845)

Effect of exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents (3,555) (9,745)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  229,942 265,532

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  187,916 229,942
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Notes

Reporting entity
1.  Landsvirkjun         
Landsvirkjun is a partnership which has its place of business in Iceland and its headquarters 
at Háaleitisbraut 68, Reykjavik, Iceland. Landsvirkjun operates on the basis of the Act on 
Landsvirkjun no. 42/1983. The Company’s main objective is to engage in operations in the 
energy sector. The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries and share in the return of associated companies.  
      
2.  Basis of preparation
a.  Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.  
           
The Company’s Board of Directors approved the financial statements on 22 February 2013.
  
b.  Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the 
following assets and liabilities, which have been measured at fair value: derivative financial 
instruments, trading financial assets and shares in other companies.

Fixed assets and asset groups available for sale are recognised at the lower value of either 
the book value or the net fair value. Fixed operating assets of the subsidiaries, Landsnet hf. 
and Orkufjarskipti hf. are recognised at revalued cost.     
         
c.  Presentation and functional currency
The financial statements are presented in USD, which is the parent Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information presented in USD has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless otherwise stated.

d.  Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual re-
sults may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised and the effects of the changes are entered in the 
periods in which the changes are made and in subsequent periods if the changes also affect 
those periods.

Information on management’s estimates and decisions made in relation to the application 
of accounting methods that significantly affect the financial statements are presented in 
the following notes:     

> note 27 property, plant and equipment      
> note 28 intangible assets     
> note 30 derivative financial instruments     
> note 34 deferred tax asset      
> note 42 accrued pension liabilities     
> note 49 aluminium price risk 
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Significant accounting methods      
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods pre-
sented in these financial statements, and to all companies within the group. The Group’s 
deferred tax asset is now divided into deferred tax asset on the one hand and deferred tax 
liability on the other. Comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly.  

3. Basis of consolidation      
a. Subsidiaries         
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exerc-
isable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases. Financial statements of subsidiaries have been taken into account. When 
the Company’s share of losses exceeds its interest in a subsidiary, the carrying amount of 
that interest is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except 
to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the 
subsidiary. In case of a profit on the operation of a subsidiary in a subsequent period, a 
share in their profit is not recognised until a share in a loss has been fully set off.  
       
b. Transactions eliminated on consolidation      
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising 
from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees 
are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Company’s interest in the 
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to 
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.      
   
c. Subsidiaries with another functional currency     
Assets and liabilities of a subsidiary with other functional currency other than the parent 
company are translated to USD at the exchange rate ruling at the accounting date. Income 
and expenses of that operation are translated to USD at the average exchange rate of the 
year. The exchange rate difference arising from the translation is entered as a specific item 
under equity. Amounts in the statement of cash flows are translated to USD at the average 
exchange rate of the year. The exchange rate difference arising from the translation to USD 
is entered as a specific item in the statement of cash flows.     
      
4. Associated companies        
Associated companies are those companies in which the Company has significant 
influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence 
is presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting 
power of another entity, including any other possible voting power.      
         
The financial statements include the Group’s share in the income and expenses of associated 
companies according to the method of association, from the date that significant influence 
commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share of 
losses exceeds the book value of an associated company the book value is reduced to nil and 
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has 
an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associated company. If in subsequent 
periods there is a profit on the operation of associated companies, the share in the profit is 
not recognised until the previous share in losses has been set off.    
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5. Operating revenues        
Revenues from sales and transmission of electricity consists of sales supplied to power 
intensive industries and public utilities based on delivery during the period. Other service 
income is also recognised when earned or upon delivery. 
      
6. Interest income and expenses       
Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income statement as they accrue using 
the effective interest method. Interest income and expenses include bank rates, premium, 
realised interest rate swaps and other difference arising on initial book value of financial 
instruments and amounts on the date of maturity using the effective interest method.  
           
Effective interest is the imputed rate of interest used in determining the current value of 
estimated cash flow over the estimated useful life of a financial instrument or a shorter 
period if applicable, so that it equals the book value of the financial asset or liability in the 
balance sheet. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash 
flow taking into account all contractual aspects of the financial instrument.   
    
7. Other financial income and expenses      
Other income (expenses) on financial assets and liabilities include profit and loss on current 
assets and liabilities and all redeemed and unredeemed fair value changes, dividends and 
changes in foreign exchange difference. Dividend income is recognised in the income 
statement when distribution of dividends has been approved.

8. Foreign currency transactions       
Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the exchange rate ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the year. Foreign currency gain or loss 
is recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at 
cost value in a foreign currency are translated to USD at the exchange rate ruling at the 
date of the transactions. Tangible assets and liabilities recognised in foreign currencies at 
fair value are translated to USD at the exchange rate ruling at the date of determination of 
fair value. 

9. Impairment
a. Financial assets         
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the es-
timated future cash flows of that asset.       
      
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calcula-
ted as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in 
respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value.  
           
Impairment loss on financial assets is recognised in the income statement. Accumulated 
loss on available for sale financial assets, previously recognised among equity, is recognised 
in the income statement when the impairment loss has been incurred.    
         
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurr-
ing after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised 
cost or available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised 

Notes, contd.:
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in the income statement. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, 
the reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.    
         
b. Other assets         
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and 
deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amo-
unt is estimated. Impairment tests are carried out at least once a year on intangible assets 
with undetermined useful life.        
          
Impairment loss is recognised when the book value of the asset or its cash generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest distinguishable asset 
group that generates cash, which is mostly independent from other units or unit groups. 
Impairment loss is expensed in the income statement and later proportionally as reduction 
in the book value of other assets pertaining to the unit.     
        
The recoverable amount of non-financial assets or its cash generating unit is the greater of 
its sales value or its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
          
An impairment loss in respect of non-financial assets is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.          
     
10. Income tax         
Income tax on the results for the year consists of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.     
       
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, in addition to adjustments made to current tax of previous 
years.

A deferred tax asset is recognised in the financial statements. Its calculation is based on 
the difference in balance sheet items, according to the tax return, on the one hand, and the 
consolidated financial statements, on the other hand. The difference thus arising is due 
to the fact that the tax assessment is based on another premise than the Group’s financial 
statements and is in main respect a temporary difference as expenses are entered in the 
financial statement in another period than in the tax return. Calculation of deferred tax is 
based on the expected tax ratio when temporary differences are estimated to be reversed 
based on current law at the reporting date.       
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A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against the asset. The tax asset is calculated at each reporting date and 
decreased to the extent that is considered likely that it will be utilised against future 
taxable profit.         
    
11. Fixed assets         
Fixed assets are initially measured at cost.    
  
The cost of renewing single items of fixed asset is capitalised if it is considered likely that 
the proceeds on the asset will revert to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. 
All other cost is expensed in the income statement as it is incurred.    
         
The Group’s transmission and telecommunication systems are recognised at a revalued cost 
in the balance sheet, which is their fair value less depreciation from the date of revaluation. 
The revaluation of those assets will be carried out on a regular basis. All value increase due 
to the revaluation is recognised in the revaluation account among equity after income tax 
effect. Depreciation, of the revalued cost is recognised in the income statement. Upon the 
sale, depreciation or disposal of an asset, the part of the revaluation account pertaining to 
the asset is transferred to retained earnings.       
      
Other operating assets are capitalised at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment.          
    
The initial value of fixed assets includes the estimated cost of demolition following their 
use. Estimated demolition cost of power lines has been measured at a discounted value 
based on the useful life and an obligation in relation thereto has been recognised among 
long-term liabilities. A change in the obligation due to the discounted value is recognised 
through the income statement in addition to depreciation of demolition costs.    
          
Cost value consists of all cost incurred due to the acquisition of the asset. Cost value of fixed 
assets constructed in own account is the aggregate cost of construction, such as cost of 
material and salaries in addition to all other costs the Company incurs in making the asset 
operative.           
   
If single items of fixed assets have different estimated useful lives, they are divided in 
accordance with their different useful lives.      
       
Interest expense on loans used to finance the cost value of projects are capitalised at the 
time of construction.          
    
Profit or loss on the sale of fixed assets is the difference between the sales value and the 
book value of the asset and is recognised in the income statement. When a revalued fixed 
asset is sold its revaluation among equity is moved to retained earnings.   
          
Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated as a fixed annual percentage based on the estimated useful lives 
of the operating assets. 

Depreciation method, estimated useful life, and residual value are reassessed at each 
accounting date. 

Notes, contd.:
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Amortisation Useful life

 Power stations:

      Power houses and other structures 1.67% 60 years

      Machinery 2.5-6.67% 15-40 years

      Dams and waterways 1.67-3.33% 30-60 years

Thermal stations 1.67-6.67% 15-60 years

Substations 2.5%-5% 20-40 years

Power lines 2.00% 50 years

Optical fibre 5.00% 20 years

Masts 7.00% 15 years

Telecommunication buildings 6.00% 17 years

Other telecommunication equipment 14-15% 7 years

Office buildings 2.00% 50 years

Equipment 10-25% 4-10 years

Vehicles 10-20% 5-10 years

Depreciation ratios and useful life are specified as follows:

12. Intangible assets         
Intangible assets are recognised at cost value, less impairment loss and amortisation.   
           
Expenditure for general research cost is expensed in the period it incurs. Development cost 
for future power projects is capitalised among fixed assets, such as cost of materials, salary 
cost and all cost incurred by the Company in relation to capitalised development cost. The 
development cost is only capitalised if there is probability of future economic benefit and 
the Company intends and is able to conclude, use or sell it. The cost is not depreciated at 
this stage but account is taken for possible impairment loss if a project changes.   
          
Water and geothermal rights are capitalised in the balance sheet at cost value as intangible 
assets with unlimited useful life.        
     
Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
loss.           
  
Subsequent cost is only capitalised if it increases the estimated future economic benefit of 
the asset it relates to. All other cost is expensed in the income statement when incurred.  
          
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis, based on the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets from the date that they become applicable. Amortisation and estimated 
useful life is specified as follows:

Amortisation Useful life

Software 25% 4 years
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13. Financial instruments        
a. Non-derivative financial instruments      
Non-derivative financial instruments consist of investments in shares and bonds, accounts 
receivable, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, accounts payable and 
other short-term liabilities.     

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value at initial recognition. In 
case of financial instruments, not measured at fair value through income statement, all 
direct transaction cost is entered as increase in the fair value at their initial recognition, 
with the exceptions described here below. Following an initial registration non-derivative 
financial instruments are recognised as follows. 

Financial instruments are entered in the consolidated financial statements when the 
Company becomes a part of contractual provisions of the relevant financial instrument. 
Financial assets are derecognised if the Company’s contractual right to cash flow due to the 
asset expires or the Company transfers the assets to another party without holding back 
control or almost all the risk and gain involved in the ownership. Conventional purchase 
and sale of financial assets are recognised at the transaction date, i.e. the date the Company 
enters into obligation to purchase or sell the asset. Financial obligations are derecognised 
from the consolidated financial statements if the obligations of the Company defined in an 
agreement are paid, expire, disallowed, or are invalidated.     
      
Note no. 6 includes information on accounting methods used for financial income and 
expenses.
           
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through income statement   
A financial instrument is recognised at fair value and fair value changes through income 
statement in case of current financial assets or financial liabilities or if it is, at the initial 
registration, determined as a financial instrument at fair value through the income state-
ment. A financial instrument is denominated at fair value through the income statement 
if the Company manages such investments and decisions of purchase and sale on their 
fair value. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the income statement are 
recognised at fair value in the balance sheet and fair value changes are recognised in the 
income statement. Direct transaction cost is entered in the income statement as it incurs. 
          
Other financial instruments        
Other non-derivative financial instruments are recognised at amortised cost value using 
the effective interest method, less impairment loss, if any.     
        
Off-setting of financial assets and liabilities       
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is recognised in the balance 
sheet when the legal right exists on off-setting and the Company intends to account for 
financial assets and liabilities by off-setting.       
         
b. Derivative financial instruments       
The Company enters into derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency, 
interest rate and aluminium price risk exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated 
from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related and other 
instruments with the same provisions as the embedded derivative would be defined as a 
derivative and the hybrid contract is not stated at fair value in the income statement. 

Notes, contd.:
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Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Attributable tran-
saction costs are recognised in the income statement when incurred. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for 
as described below. 
        
Economic hedges         
Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments that economically hedge monet-
ary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. Changes in the fair value of such 
derivatives are recognised in the income statement among financial income and expenses. 

Separable embedded derivatives
Fair value changes of embedded derivatives separable from the host contract are recognised 
when the fair value changes take place, see notes on risk management. 

14. Fair value measurement       
Accounting standards require that the fair value be measured, both for financial assets 
and liabilities and other assets and liabilities. The fair value has been determined due to 
assessments and/or notes according to the following methods. Where applicable, further 
information is made available on the methods used to find the fair value of assets and lia-
bilities in the note relevant to the asset or the liability in question.    
      
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities listed in an active market is the same as their 
listed value. Evaluation methods are applied to all other financial instruments in calcu-
lating their fair value. A financial asset or liability is considered to be listed on an active 
market if the official price can be obtained from a stock exchange or another independent 
party and the price reflects real and regular market transactions between unrelated parties. 
          
Evaluation methods can involve the use of recent transaction prices between unrelated 
parties. The methods take note of the value of other financial instruments similar to the 
instrument in question, and methods are used to determine the discounted cash flow or other 
evaluation methods that can be applied in order to measure in a reliable way the real market 
value. When applying evaluation methods, all factors that market parties would use in a price 
assessment are used and the methods are in accordance with generally accepted methods for 
rating financing instruments. If market data is unavailable, management’s evaluation is used. 
The Company verifies its evaluation methods on an ongoing basis and tests them by using the 
prices obtained from transactions in an active market with the same instrument, without 
adjustments or changes, or based on information from an active market. 
        
The most reliable verification of the initial fair value of derivative financial instruments is 
the purchase value, unless the fair value of the instrument can be verified by comparison 
with other recent listed market transactions with the same instrument, or based on an 
evaluation method where variables are exclusively based on market data. When such market 
data can be obtained, the Company recognises profit and loss at the initial recognition date 
of the instruments.         
   
15. Inventories         
Inventories are stated at the lower of the cost value or the net sales value. Cost value of 
inventories is based on “the First In First Out method” and includes cost incurred upon the 
purchase of the inventories, bringing them on location and possible set-up costs.   
       
16. Cash and cash equivalents      
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, short-term market securities and demand deposits. 
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17. Equity         
The Group’s equity is divided into owners’ contribution, revaluation account, translation 
difference, other equity and minority interest. The parent company’s initial capital amo-
unts to USD 587 million.
       
18. Employees’ benefits       
a.  Defined contribution plan       
Costs due to contributions to defined contribution plans is expensed in the income 
statement when incurred.
       
b. Defined benefit plan       
The Company’s obligation due to defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the 
future value of defined pension benefits accrued by current and former employees in cur-
rent or previous periods. The benefits are discounted in order to determine their present 
value. An actuary has calculated the obligation on the basis of a method, which is based on 
accrued benefits. Changes in the obligation are recognised in the income statement when 
incurred.          
   
19. Obligations         
Obligations are recognised when the Company has a legal obligation or entered into obliga-
tions due to past events, which are likely to be settled and can be reliably measured. The 
obligation can be assessed on the basis of estimated cash flow, discounted on the basis of 
rates reflecting market interests rates and the risk inherent with the obligation.   
           
20. Statement of segments       
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group, which is subject to risks and ret-
urns that are different from those of other segments. In determining the distribution of 
resources to segments and evaluating the results, the return of the segments is reviewed 
on a regular basis.
      
Segment operating results, assets and liabilities consist of items that can be directly linked 
to each segment, in addition to the items that can be reasonably divided into segments.   
         
21. Reporting standards        
The Group has adopted all International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments 
thereto and interpretations confirmed by the EU at year end 2012 that apply to its 
operations. The Group has not adopted standards, amendments to standards or 
interpretations entering into effect after year end 2012, which may be adopted earlier. 
The effect thereof on the Group’s financial statements have not been fully determined but 
are considered to be insubstantial.
         
22. Statement of segments       
Segment information is presented according to the nature of the operation and is based on 
the Group’s organisation and internal disclosure.      
       
 

    
Landsvirkjun Group’s operating segments are specified as follows:

Notes, contd.:
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Electricity production        
The operations of the parent company fall under the electricity production segment. By 
law Landsvirkjun’s objectives are to operate in the energy sector and other business and 
financial operations in accordance with decisions of the Board of Directors. Landsvirkjun’s 
electricity production is based on hydroelectric- and geothermal power. Landsvirkjun 
sells its electricity production in Iceland to retail sales companies and industrial users.  
Furthermore, the operations of Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd. and Theistareykir ehf., falls 
under these segments. Þeistareykir ehf. merged with Landsvirkjun during the year. The 
purpose of Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd. is to manage the insurance of Landsvirkjun’s 
power stations.           
   
Electricity transmission        
The operation of Landsnet hf. falls under the electricity transmission segment. The 
company was established in August 2004 on the basis of the Energy Act approved 
by Parliament in spring 2003. The purpose of Landsnet hf. is to operate electricity 
transmission and system management in Iceland according to provisions of Chapter 
III of the Energy Act no. 65/2003 and may thus not carry out other operations than are 
necessary in order to fulfill its obligations according to the Energy Act.  
          
Other segments        
Other segments include the operation of the companies Orkufjarskipti hf. and Lands-
virkjun Power ehf. together with Landsvirkjun Power ehf.’s subsidiaries. The purpose 
of Orkufjarskipti hf. is to own and operate a telecommunications system throughout the 
country and rent access to the system in addition to other related operations according 
to law. Landsvirkjun Power ehf. takes care of sales of technical and operational advisory 
services to third parties and general research work, harnessing research and projects for 
Landsvirkjun and related companies.       
    
Almost the entire operations of the Group are based in Iceland.

Operating segments year 2012
Electricity  

production 
Electricity  

transmission Other segments Adjustments Total

Income from third party 359,608 44,483 3,733 0 407,824

Income within the Group 9,676 54,234 2,932 (66,842) 0

Segment income 369,284 98,717 6,665 (66,842) 407,824

Segment operating expenses (113,389) (36,862) (4,816) 66,842 (88,225)

EBITDA 255,895 61,855 1,849 0 319,599

Depreciation and  
impairment loss (92,004) (19,732) (944) 392 (112,288)

Segment earnings, EBIT 163,891 42,123 905 392 207,311

Segment assets 2012 4,348,535 576,581 16,392 (443,076) 4,498,431

Associated companies 19,734 5,001 368 (5,001) 20,103

Total assets 2012 4,368,269 581,582 16,760 (448,077) 4,518,534

Segment liabilities 2012 2,683,744 478,562 3,788 (344,712) 2,821,382

Total liabilities 2012 2,683,744 478,562 3,788 (344,712) 2,821,382

Investing activities 109,104 18,357 1,832 0 129,293
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Operating segments year 2011
Electricity  

production 
Electricity  

transmission Other segments Adjustments Total

Income from third party 385,412 47,123 3,662 0 436,196

Income within the Group 10,514 55,477 3,168 (69,159) 0

Segment income 395,926 102,600 6,830 (69,159) 436,196

Segment operating expenses (121,970) (33,130) (5,053) 69,159 (90,993)

EBITDA 273,956 69,470 1,777 0 345,203

Depreciation and  
impairment loss (85,883) (22,112) (657) 452 (108,200)

Segment earnings, EBIT 188,073 47,358 1,120 452 237,003

Segment assets 2011 4,489,237 603,064 17,979 (496,696) 4,613,583

Associated companies 21,657 5,515 349 (5,116) 22,406

Total assets 2011 4,510,894 608,579 18,328 (501,812) 4,635,989

Segment liabilities 2011 2,859,760 507,023 3,963 (396,069) 2,974,677

Total liabilities 2011 2,859,760 507,023 3,963 (396,069) 2,974,677

Investing activities 97,219 8,873 2,384 0 108,476

23. Salaries and salary related expenses

24. Total salaries of employees 

Total number of employees is specified as follows: 2012 2011 

Average number of employees during the year, full-time equivalents 414 396

Full-time equivalent units at year-end 361 334

Total salaries of employees are specified as follows:

Salaries 30,087 29,720

Pension premium payments 3,619 3,524

Defined pension benefit payments 1,415 1,295

Change in pension obligation 1,108 1,303

Other salary related expenses 3,219 3,461

39,448 39,303

Salaries are divided as follows in the income statement:

Energy production cost 11,753 12,713

Transmission costs 10,653 10,629

Other operating expenses 17,042 15,961

39,448 39,303

 Salaries of the Board of Directors, CEO, Deputy and Executive Directors are specified as follows:

Salaries of the Board of Directors of the parent company 84 82

Salaries of Boards of Directors of two subsidiaries (2011: 4) 75 84

Salaries and benefits of the CEO of the parent company, Hördur Arnarson 140 179

Salaries and benefits of the former Corporate Office Director 2011 0 70

Salaries of five Directors and the Deputy (2011: 8) 948 1,148

Salaries and benefits of the CEO and three Directors of subsidiaries (2011: 5) 467 750
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25. Financial income and (expenses)

During the year, the parent company’s divisions of human resources and IT were trans-
ferred to the Corporate Office and therefore Directors decreased by two.

Financial income and (expenses) are specified as follows: 2012 2011 

Interest income 4,014 4,127 

Interest expenses (78,338) (90,481)

Guarantee fee (9,587) (7,014)

Indexation (18,531) (21,179)

Capitalised interest costs 4,187 1,830

Total interest expenses (102,269) (116,844)

Realised foreign exchange differences (4,838) (14,150)

Unrealised foreign exchange difference (12,675) 22,711

Total foreign exchange difference (17,513) 8,561

Fair value changes in embedded derivatives (3,391) (93,197)

Fair value changes in other derivatives 13,653 6,959

Fair value changes in shares 0 (9)

Financial income and (expenses) (105,506) (190,404)

Capitalised finance cost amounted to 3.5% of restricted cash in hydropower stations in 
construction in the year 2012 (2011: 3.1%) and 7.6% of restricted cash in transmission under 
construction (2011: 8.0%). 
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Notes, contd.:

26. Income tax

 Income tax is specified as follows: 2012 2011

Change in income tax asset / liability (45,483) (16,990)

Current tax (131) (207)

Foreign exchange difference 119 1,061

Adjustment due to previous year with subsidiary 124 0

Expensed income tax (45,370) (16,135)

Change in income tax asset / 
liability is specified as follows:

Change in temporary difference (33,278) (3,027)

Change in carry forward loss (12,085) (12,902)

Foreign exchange difference (119) (1,061)

Change in income tax asset / liability (45,483) (16,990)

Effective tax rate 2012 2011

Profit for the year 54,206 26,450

Income tax for the year 45,370 16,135

Profit before income tax 99,576 42,585

2012 2011

Income tax acc. to the parent company’s  
curr. tax rate 36.0% 35,847 36.0% 15,331

Effect of different tax rates within the Group (3.5%) (3,492) (4.5%) (1,900)

Effect of merger of subsidiary with  
parent company 12.2% 12,194 0.0% 0

Non-deductible items 0.2% 152 3.6% 1,516

Other items 0.7% 669 2.8% 1,188

Effective income tax 45.6% 45,370 37.9% 16,135
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27. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is specified as follows: 

Cost value Power stations Transmission
Communicat. 

equipment Other assets Total 

Total value 1.1.2011 4,844,192 588,677 10,628 73,500 5,516,997

Effect of exchange rate changes 0 (36,816) (956) (1,689) (39,461)

Additions during the year 6,012 1,808 8,983 3,981 20,784

Moved to assets available for sale 0 0 0 (5,690) (5,690)

Moved from other items 0 5,756 0 0 5,756

Sold and disposed of 0 (6,315) (3,185) (844) (10,344)

Total value 31.12.2011 4,850,204 553,110 15,470 69,258 5,488,042

Effect of exchange rate changes 0 (26,020) (776) (1,280) (28,076)

Additions during the year 7,217 3,954 1,832 7,534 20,537

Sold and disposed of 0 0 (40) (5,113) (5,153)

Total value 31.12.2012 4,857,421 531,044 16,486 70,399 5,475,350

Depreciation and impairment loss

Total value 1.1.2011 1,689,961 85,627 5,896 25,780 1,807,264

Effect of exchange rate changes 0 (6,372) (224) (390) (6,986)

Depreciation of the year 84,387 19,331 645 2,475 106,838

Sold and disposed of 0 (818) (3,315) (579) (4,712)

Total value 31.12.2011 1,774,348 97,768 3,002 27,286 1,902,404

Effect of exchange rate changes 0 (5,100) (168) (315) (5,583)

Depreciation of the year 82,504 17,732 972 2,591 103,799

Sold and disposed of 0 0 0 (1,553) (1,553)

Total value 31.12.2012 1,856,852 110,400 3,806 28,009 1,999,067

Book value

1.1.2011 3,154,231 503,050 4,732 47,720 3,709,732 

31.12.2011 3,075,856 455,342 12,468 41,972 3,585,637 

31.12.2012 3,000,569 420,644 12,680 42,390 3,476,284

If subsidiaries had not revalued transmission and telecommunication systems, their book 
value would have been around USD 114 million lower at year end 2012 (2011: USD 125 
million).            
              
At year end, an impairment test was performed on the Company’s assets. The result of the 
test did not show any indication of impairment.     



82

Consol idated Financial  Statements 2012

Amounts are in USD thousand

Official assessment of fixed assets and insurance value     
The official assessment of the Company’s real estate amounted to USD 285 million at year 
end 2012 (2011: USD 289 million). Insurance value of the Company’s assets amounts to USD 
4,203 million (2011: USD 3,948 million) and emergency fund insurance amounts to USD 
803 million (2011: USD 813 million).

Cost value 2012 2011 

Balance at 1.1. 71,883 3,699 

Effect of exchange rate changes (447) (161)

Moved from development costs  0 18,473 

Additions during the year 80,182 55,628 

Moved to property, plant and equipment / development costs (65) (5,756)

Sold and disposed of ( 44) 0 

Balance at 31.12. 151,509 71,883

Assets under construction

28. Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are specified as follows:

Cost value
Capitalised 

development costs 
Water and 

geothermal rights Software Total 

Total value 1.1.2011 216,571 44,827 6,527 267,925 

Effect of exchange rate changes (4,705) 0 (209) (4,914)

Additions during the year 27,079 0 249 27,328 

Moved to assets in construction ( 18,957) 0 0 ( 18,957)

Sold and disposed of (737) 0 0 ( 737)

Total value 31.12.2011 219,251 44,827 6,567 270,645 

Effect of exchange rate changes ( 67) 0 ( 150) ( 217)

Additions during the year 33,160 784 720 34,664 

Moved to other items ( 5,235) 0 0 ( 5,235)

Sold and disposed of ( 58) 0 0 ( 58)

Total value 31.12.2012 247,051 45,611 7,137 299,799 

The Group’s depreciation  
and impairment

Total value 1.1.2011 57,729 0 4,379 62,108 

Effect of exchange rate changes ( 109) 0 ( 129) ( 238)

Amortization during the year 0 0 625 625 

Impairment loss during the year 736 0 0 736 

Total value 31.12.2011 58,356 0 4,875 63,231 

Effect of exchange rate changes (83) 0 (101) (184)

Amortisation during the year 0 0 425 425 

Impairment loss during the year 8,065 0 0 8,065 

Moved to other items ( 5,300) 0 0 ( 5,300)

Total value 31.12.2012 61,038 0 5,199 66,237 

Book value

1.1.2011 158,842 44,827 2,148 205,819 

31.12.2011 160,895 44,827 1,692 207,415 

31.12.2012 186,013 45,611 1,937 233,563 

Notes, contd.:



Amounts are in USD thousand 83

Derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet are specified as follows:

Assets:

Embedded derivatives in electricity agreements 285,756 291,156 

Aluminium hedges 13,243 36,946 

Currency swaps 366 0 

Other derivatives 12,302 2,358 

311,667 330,460 

Derivative financial instruments are divided as follows:

Long-term component of derivative agreements 270,076 289,569 

Short-term component of derivative agreements 41,591 40,891 

311,667 330,460 

Liabilities:

Embedded derivatives in electricity agreements 14,920 16,928 

Aluminium hedges 3,246 13,010 

Currency swaps 11,937 17,279 

Interest rate swaps 44,588 46,292 

Other derivatives 4,573 21,187 

79,264 114,696 

Derivative financial instruments are divided as follows:

Long-term component of derivative agreements 60,232 86,018 

Short-term component of derivative agreements 19,032 28,678 

79,264 114,696 

At year end, an impairment test was performed on the Company’s assets. The result of the 
test did not show any indication of impairment.

29. The Group’s depreciation and impairment
The Group’s depreciation and impairment is specified as follows: 2012 2011 

Power stations 82,504 84,387 

Transmission 17,732 19,331 

Telecommunication equipment 972 645 

Other assets 2,591 2,475 

Depreciation of assets in operation 103,799 106,838 

Impairment loss on development cost 8,065 736 

Amortisation of software 425 625 

112,288 108,200 

The Group’s depreciation and impairment is divided  
as follows by sectors:

Energy production costs 83,016 84,914 

Transmission costs 18,340 19,819 

Cost of general research 8,000 0 

Other operating expenses 2,932 3,467 

112,288 108,200

30. Derivative financial instruments

 The accounting policy for embedded derivatives is discussed in note 49.             
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Landsvirkjun’s subsidiaries are specified as follows:

        

   Share

Hraunaveita ehf., Reykjavík, Iceland - 100.0%

Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd., Bermuda 100.0% 100.0%

Landsnet hf., Reykjavík, Iceland 64.7% 64.7%

Landsvirkjun Power ehf., Reykjavík, Iceland 100.0% 100.0%

Orkufjarskipti hf., Reykjavík, Iceland 100.0% 100.0%

Þeistareykir ehf., Þingeyjarsveit, Iceland - 96.7%

 

Shares in associated companies recognised according to the 
equity method within the Group are specified as follows:

         2012

Share Share in return Book value

Farice ehf., Kópavogur, Iceland 28.9% (2,256) 19,734 

Sjávarorka hf., Stykkishólmur, Iceland 30.3% (159) 0 

Netorka hf., Hafnarfjördur, Iceland - 161 0 

Hecla SAS, France 29.4% 25 369 

(2,229) 20,103 

2011

Share Share in return Book value

Farice ehf., Kópavogur, Iceland 28.9% (4,126) 21,640 

Netorka hf., Hafnarfjördur, Iceland 42.5% 47 416 

Hecla SAS, France 29.4% 64 350

(4,014) 22,406 

Notes, contd.:

31. Shares in associated companies

32. Other long-term assets

Other long-term assets are specified as follows: 2012 2011

Shares in other companies 117 106 

Long-term receivables 3,107 0 

3,224 106

The company Þeistareykir ehf. was merged with Landsvirkjun, the sole shareholder in the 
company. The effective date of the merger is 1 September 2012 but the merger process has 
not been concluded. Hraunaveita ehf. was sold to Landsvirkjun Power ehf.

33. Landsvirkjun’s subsidiaries
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34. Deferred tax asset / liability

Changes in the tax asset / liability during 
the year is specified as follows: Deferred tax asset Deferred tax liability

2012 2011 2012 2011

Balance at the beginning of the year 100,716 116,692 (13,565) (12,551)

Adjustment due to previous  
year with subsidiary 0 0 (124) 0

Expensed income tax (43,694) (14,028) (1,676) (2,107)

Current tax 0 0 131 207

Exchange and translation difference  
due to tax asset (803) (1,947) 684 886

Balance at year end 56,218 100,716 (14,550) (13,565)

The Group’s deferred tax asset / liability  
is specified as follows:

Carry forward taxable loss 17,618 26,567 6,610 10,950

Property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets  115,677 159,604 (23,542) (25,682)

Derivative financial instruments (87,948) (84,254) 0 0

Other items 10,871 (1,201) 2,382 1,167

Balance at year end 56,218 100,716 (14,550) (13,565)

The Group’s carry forward losses may be utilised for 10 years from when it is incurred. 
Carry forward loss is specified as follows:

2012 2011

Carry forward loss of the year 2006, usable until the year 2016 0 1,981 

Carry forward loss of the year 2008, usable until the year 2018 37,786 86,439 

Carry forward loss of the year 2009, usable until the year 2019 40,116 42,087 

Carry forward loss of the year 2010, usable until the year 2020 871 914 

Carry forward loss of the year 2011, usable until the year 2021 856 898 

Carry forward loss of the year 2012, usable until the year 2022 2,357 0 

Carry forward loss at year end 81,986 132,319

Deferred tax asset is calculated on all carry forward loss where it is considered likely that it 
will be utilised against future taxable profit. Carry forward loss is recognised in Icelandic 
krona and, therefore, the exchange rate of the USD affects the carry forward loss at each 
year end.   

35. Inventories

Inventories are specified as follows:

Oil 35 38 

Spare parts and consumables 4,151 4,058 

4,186 4,096
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Notes, contd.:

36. Accounts receivables and other receivables

Accounts receivables and other receivables are specified as follows: 2012 2011

Accounts receivables 46,041 42,428 

Other short term receivables 26,490 27,813 

Assets available for sale 365 4,836 

72,896 75,077

 At year-end 2012, 97% of accounts receivables were under 30 days old (2011: 97%).

40. Liabilities         

Interest bearing long-term debt is specified as follows by currencies:   

2012                  2011
Maturity

date
Average
interest

Remaining
balance

Average
interest

Remaining 
balance

 Liabilities in ISK 2012-2034 4.0% 367,724 4.1% 444,948 

 Liabilities in CHF 2012-2022 0.4% 60,826 0.5% 64,070 

 Liabilities in EUR 2012-2028 1.3% 861,009 1.5% 1,027,733 

 Liabilities in GBP 2014-2016 11.4% 14,875 11.4% 14,202 

 Liabilities in JPY 2012-2033 2.5% 26,709 2.5% 38,137 

 Liabilities in USD 2012-2026 3.1% 1,293,312 3.0% 1,151,976 

 2,624,455 2,741,066 

 Current maturities of long-term debt (208,451) (128,810)

 Total long-term debt 2,416,004 2,612,256

37. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are specified as follows:

Bank deposits 169,379 161,602 

Market securities 18,537 68,340 

187,916 229,942

Restricted deposits in the amount of USD 1 million will be cashed out in May 2013.  
     

38. Equity         
The parent company is a partnership owned by the State and Eignarhlutir ehf. The State 
owns 99.9% in the Company and Eignarhlutir ehf. 0.1%. Eignarhlutir ehf. is owned by the 
State. The Company is an independent taxable entity. The Group’s equity ratio at year end 
2012 was 37.6% but was 35.8% at year end 2011.      
   
39. The revaluation account consists of revaluation of fixed assets of subsidiaries after 
income tax effect. Translation difference is the foreign exchange difference arising due to 
Landsvirkjun’s subsidiaries with other functional currencies.  

Interest rate terms on loans are from 0.4-14.5%. Nominal interest rates for the period were 
on average 3.3%, compared to 3.5% the previous year.              
        
Following the purchase by the State of shares in Landsvirkjun held by the city of Reykjavik 
and the town of Akureyri an agreement was reached stipulating that the city of Reykjavík 
and the town of Akureyri would provide a guarantee of collection together with the State 
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41. According to loan agreements, the current maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 

2012 2011 

2012 - 128,810 

2013 208,451 141,589 

2014 168,817 163,324 

2015 188,159 187,858 

2016 254,106 251,023 

2017 333,014 -

Later 1,471,908 1,868,462 

2,624,455 2,741,066

Change in the obligation is specified as follows: 2012 2011 

Balance at 1.1. 23,238 23,442

Expensed during the year 2,286 2,462

Payments during the year (1,178) (1,159)

Effect of foreign exchange 
rate differences (1,118) (1,507)

Balance at 31.12. 23,228 23,238

Pension fund obligation,  
5 year statem: 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Present value of the 
obligation 23,228 23,238 23,442 21,978 22,118

for all of Landsvirkjun’s obligations entered into before the end of year 2006. From the 
beginning of year 2007, the State and Eignarhlutir ehf. provide a guarantee of collection 
for all of Landsvirkjun’s obligations entered into after that date in accordance with the Act 
on Landsvirkjun. According to the agreement, the State guarantees the city of Reykjavík 
and the town of Akureyri indemnity after 1 January 2012 with respect to a guarantee of 
obligations entered into before 1 January 2007. The Company’s payments due to guarantees 
for long term loans are calculated according to Regulation no. 121/1997.

42. Pension fund obligation     
The Company’s obligation to refund the indexation charges on retirement payments to cur-
rent and former employees, which hold pension rights with state and communal pension 
funds amounted to USD 23.2 million at year end 2012 according to an actuary’s evaluation, 
which is based on estimated future changes in salaries and prices.  Interest in excess of 
price increases are assessed at 3.5% and salary increases in excess of price increases are 
assessed at 1.5% per year on average.  Premises on life expectancy and death rate are in 
accordance with the provisions of Regulation no. 391/1998 on obligatory pension benefits 
and operation of pension funds. The retirement age is 68 years for current employees and 
65 years for non-employees with vested benefits and this is consistent with the relevant 
pension funds’ regulation. 
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Notes, contd.:

43. Obligation due to demolition 

Change in the obligation due to demolition is specified as follows: 2012 2011 

Balance at 1.1. 5,673 6,541 

Change in the obligation 306 (486)

Effect of foreign exchange rate differences (275) (382)

Balance at 31.12. 5,704 5,673

In accordance with IFRS, the initial value of fixed operating assets shall include an es-
timated cost of their demolition after their use. An estimated demolition cost of power 
lines has been assessed and discounted on the basis of useful life. In return, an obligation 
has been written up among long-term liabilities. A change in the obligation is recognised 
in the income statement amounting to the discounted value. 

44. Accounts payable and other payables   

Accounts payable and other payables are specified as follows:

Accounts payable 32,269 27,648 

Accrued interest 23,647 26,952 

Other short term liabilities 15,929 20,788 

71,845 75,388

45. Related parties        

Definition of related parties       

Owners, associated companies, Boards of directors, key management and companies and 
institutions owned by them are the Company’s related parties.    

    

Transactions with related parties

Interest income

Associated companies 50 0 

Expenses

Associated companies 8 7 

Receivables

Associated companies 1,773 0

Transactions with the State or companies and institutions owned by the State are not 
specified as a separate item, but are as transactions with non-related parties.

46. Cash flow         

Cash flow from operation is an indicator for the Company’s ability to meet its payment 
obligations. Operating activities are presented according to the direct method as follows: 

Operating activities

Cash received from customers 408,240 441,595 

Cash expenses (87,473) (87,863)

Cash flow from operations excluding interest 320,767 353,732 

Interest income received 4,629 4,847 

Interest expenses and foreign exchange difference paid (89,218) (91,407)

Cash flow from operating activities 236,178 267,172
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47. Risk management         
The Company’s Board of Directors has approved a risk management policy, which is based 
on the following factors:

>  Risk is defined and its origin is known   
>  Generally accepted methods are used in evaluating risk  
>  Effective management is applied in accordance with authorisations 
>  Effective monitoring on risk factors is ensured   
>  Information provided to the risk committee and the Board of Directors is accurate and  
 provided on a regular basis 
 
Decisions and supervision of risk management is entrusted to a risk management 
committee. The risk management committee consists of the CEO, his deputy and the CFO. 
The CEO is the chairman of the risk management committee. The Head of Risk Management 
is responsible for risk management on a daily basis.       
     
The objective of risk management is to analyse, manage, and monitor Landsvirkjun’s 
risk in order to reduce operating fluctuations. Financial risk is divided into market risk, 
liquidity risk and counterparty risk. The Company’s market risk consists mainly of three 
risk categories: 
        
>  Risk due to fluctuations in global market price of aluminium   
>  Interest rate risk due to the Company’s liabilities
>  Foreign exchange risk due to liabilities and cash flow 

48. Financial risk        
During the year, Landsvirkjun entered into agreements in order to hedge against currency, 
interest and aluminium price risk. The Company made an agreement with the Nordic 
Investment Bank to convert loans in the amount of EUR 140 million to USD. The loans 
were on floating interests in EUR but following the conversion they are on fixed interest 
in USD. The Company also entered into a currency swap agreement against an underlying 
loan where EUR 60 million, previously on floating interest, were converted to USD on fixed 
interest.        
      
At year end 2012, the Company had access to undrawn Revolving Credit Facilities in the 
amount of USD 200 million and ISK 10,500 million. Both Revolving Credit Facilities have 
a three year term with the possibility of extending the term for one year. Furthermore, 
undrawn long-term loans amount to USD 128 million. The maturity profile, strong 
liquidity, and access to loans secures the Company’s liquidity until year end 2014. 
        
49. Aluminium price risk        
The Company is exposed to substantial risk due to possible aluminium price fluctuations as 
just under half of its income from energy sales is linked to aluminium price. The Company 
has thus entered into derivative agreements in order to secure its income base and reduce 
fluctuations. Generally such agreements consist of fixing an aluminium price at a certain 
level. The Company can, therefore, lose income if the aluminium price increases conside-
rably, but at the same time guarantees improved cash flow should the market price of alum-
inium decrease. Risk management may hedge up to 100% of aluminium price risk for next 
year and proportionally less over the next 10 years but minimum hedges are not required. 
At year end 2012, 29% of 2013 estimated cash flow has been hedged but for the year 2014 
there are minor hedges. At year end 2012, fair value of the hedges was positive by USD 10 
million (2011: USD 23.9 million) but the agreements are effective over the next two years. 
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The accompanying tables show fair value changes of aluminium hedges due to changes in 
aluminium prices and/or interest rates. The amounts are in USD thousand before taxes.

         Aluminium Price

2011 -10% 0%  10%

-1% (119,043) 15,770 151,001

0% (128,037) - 128,515

1% (136,522) (14,868) 107,325

         Aluminium Price

2012 -10% 0%  10%

-1% (120,802) 14,703 150,207

0% (128,910) - 128,910

1% (136,952) (14,406) 108,141

Embedded derivatives
Landsvirkjun has defined the part of electric power sales and purchase agreements related 
to aluminium price as embedded derivatives, which are recognised in the Company’s 
financial statements. Embedded derivatives in electric power sales agreements are 
capitalised in the balance sheet at fair value on the reporting date and in a comparable way 
electric power purchase agreements are charged. Fair value changes of the agreements 
during the year are recognised in the Company’s income statement among financial 
income and expenses. 

The fair value of embedded derivatives is specified as follows: 2012 2011

Fair value of embedded derivatives at the beginning of the year 274,227 367,424 

Fair value changes during the year ( 3,391) ( 93,197)

Fair value of embedded derivatives at year end 270,836 274,227 

Division of embedded derivatives is specified as follows:

Long term component of embedded derivatives 253,322 258,107 

Short term component of embedded derivatives 17,514 16,120 

Total embedded derivatives 270,836 274,227 

 The following tables show fair value changes of embedded derivatives in the case of changes 
in aluminium prices and/or interest rates. The amounts are in USD thousand before taxes. 

The main assumptions that Landsvirkjun uses in the evaluation of embedded derivatives 
are as follows.
   
Fair value of the agreements is calculated on the basis of forward price of aluminium, as 
disclosed in the LME, discounted at USD zero-coupon rates according to Bloomberg, no 
spread added.
         
Calculations are based on the maximum time length of official information on aluminium 
prices, or 123 months. The management’s opinion is that aluminium price expectations in 
ten years will reflect the evaluation of Landsvirkjun’s management as when the agreements 
were made and therefore fair value changes will not arise for that period.

Notes, contd.:

Aluminium Price

2011 -10% 0%  10%

-1% 6,737 136 (7,252)

0% 6,553 - (7,332)

1% 6,372 (134) (7,410)In
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         Aluminium Price

2012 -10% 0%  10%

-1% 5,901 59 (6,583)

0% 5,789 - (6,580)

1% 5,679 (59) (6,578)

In
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The calculations are limited to either the revision time of electric power sales agreements or 
the total length of agreements. The time length can never be more than the aforementioned 
123 months.
 
According to contractual provisions on energy buyers’ purchase obligations, the calcula-
tion is based on a secured minimum purchase.            

50. Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss due to unfavourable changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Landsvirkjun’s foreign exchange risk is due to payment flow, assets and liabilities in 
addition to all general transactions in other currencies than the functional currency.   
         
The Company’s functional currency is the USD and therefore a foreign exchange risk arises 
from the net cash flow and open balance in currencies other than the USD. The Company’s 
income flow is mainly in USD. Other income is in ISK and NOK but foreign exchange risk 
due to those currencies is limited due to netting in cash flow in ISK and income in NOK 
is relatively low. Currency risk due to payments of loans and interest payments in EUR 
over the next years has been limited with derivative agreements. Risk management has 
the authority to hedge foreign currency cash flows against the functional currency for up 
to three years in advance with forward agreements and options.    

The Company’s reporting risk related to exchange rate changes arises mainly due to its 
debts in EUR, which are mainly long-term loans. There is also limited risk related to the 
JPY, CHF, and GBP due to outstanding loans. The open balance in the loan portfolio against 
the USD is around 21% of assets. The following table shows Landsvirkjun’s open balance in 
currencies other than the functional currency.
      
Landsvirkjun’s foreign exchange risk at year end is specified as follows:

2012
EUR ISK JPY Other currencies

Long-term receivables 0 3,107 0 0 

Accounts receivables and other receivables 640 15,574 0 2,962 

Cash 7,216 27,170 96 5,693 

Derivatives 395,517 0 (44,932) 0 

Interest bearing liabilities (861,009) (367,724) ( 26,709) (75,701)

Accounts payable and other payables (1,868) (51,500) (550) (1,546)

Risk in balance sheet (459,504) (373,373) (72,095) (68,592)
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2011 EUR ISK JPY
Other  

currencies

Accounts receivables and other receivables 491 14,009 0 2,470

Restricted deposits 0 8,251 0 0 

Cash 2,957 93,447 438 6,781

Derivatives 518,361 0 (49,981) 0 

Interest bearing liabilities (1,027,733) (444,948) (38,137) (78,272)

Accounts payable and other payables (4,979) (51,842) (803) (1,509)

Risk in balance sheet (510,903) (381,083) (88,483) (70,530)

Exchange rates of the main currencies against the USD, (USD/currency) for the years 2012 
and 2011 are specified as follows: 

              Average rate             Rate at year end

2012 2011 2012 2011

EUR 0.78 0.72 0.76 0.77

GBP 0.63 0.62 0.62 0.65

CHF 0.94 0.88 0.92 0.94

JPY 79.70 79.59 86.10 77.40

NOK 5.82 5.61 5.59 6.01

ISK 125.05 116.07 128.74 122.71

Sensitivity analysis       

Changes to the USD exchange rate by 10% against the following currencies, would have 
affected the Group’s profit and equity by the following amounts after 36% income tax. The 
analysis is based on all variables, especially interest rates, remaining unchanged.

                  Profit (loss) after tax

2012 2011

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

EUR 35,455 (44,864) 24,549 (47,803)

ISK 2,880 (2,880) (1,402) 1,402 

JPY 4,614 (4,614) 5,663 (5,663)

       

The fair value of currency swaps was negative by USD 11.6 million at the end of December 
2012. The underlying principal amount is USD 123.2 million. The fair value of currency 
options was positive by USD 7.7 million and the underlying principal amount was USD 
418.3 million. 

Notes, contd.:
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51. Interest rate risk        
Landsvirkjun faces interest rate risk as the Company has interest bearing assets and 
liabilities. The Company’s liabilities carry both fixed and floating interest rates and interest 
rate derivatives are used in order to hedge against risk. Interest bearing financial liabilities 
are considerably higher than interest bearing financial assets and the Company’s risk 
therefore consists of possible increase in interest and increased interest expenses. 

At year end 2012, the proportion of loans with floating interest rates was 64% compared to 
73% at year end 2011. Changes in interest rates by one percent would have led to a change in 
interest expenses by USD 17 million in the year 2012 (USD 20 million in the year 2011). The 
Company’s financial instruments with fixed interests are not sensitive to interest rate chan-
ges. At year end 2012, the estimated market value of the Company’s long-term liabilities 
was USD 112 million higher than their book value (USD 122 million higher in the year 2011) 
discounted by the underlying currencies yield curve without spread. The following table 
shows the division of financial assets and liabilities between floating and fixed interest.

Financial instruments with fixed interest 2012 2011

Financial assets 3,107 0 

Financial liabilities (944,804) (751,052)

(941,697) (751,052)

Financial instruments with floating interest

Financial assets 188,884 238,193 

Financial liabilities (1,679,651) (1,990,014)

(1,490,767) (1,751,821)

Derivatives

Embedded derivatives 270,836 274,227 

Other derivatives (38,433) (58,463)

232,403 215,764

Interest rate swaps are not hedge accounted and fair value changes of these agreements 
are recognised in the income statement. At year end 2012, the fair value of interest rate 
swaps was negative by USD 44.6 million and the underlying principal amounted to USD 185 
million. The following tables show the effect of changes in interest rates on fair value of the 
derivatives in USD thousand before tax.

-0.2% 0.0% 1.0% 2.0%

(1,201) - 5,325 9,531

-0.2% 0.0% 1.0% 2.0%

(1,306) - 5,717 10,171

Interest Rates Interest Rates

20
12

20
11

Interest rate changes in the US have considerable effect on the value of embedded 
derivatives held by Landsvirkjun and the effect increases with higher aluminium prices. 
Note 49 includes sensitivity analysis on the fair value of embedded derivatives and shows 
the effect of the change on interest rates and the price of aluminium.
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52. Liquidity risk         
Liquidity risk consists of risk of losses should the Company not be able to meet its obliga-
tions at maturity date. The company limits liquidity risk with effective liquidity manage-
ment ensuring that there is sufficient cash at each time in order to be able to meet the 
company’s obligations. In order to limit such risk, the Company’s liquidity balance is mo-
nitored and emphasis is placed on having a sufficient cash position and access to Revolving 
Credit Facilities. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to USD 188 million at 
year end 2012 but when taken into account undrawn credit facilities (USD 200 million and 
ISK 10,500 million) and undrawn long-term loans in the amount of USD 128 million the 
company has access to a total of approx. USD 598 million. Taken into consideration cash 
flow from operation the Company believes that access to liquid assets is ensured until year 
end 2014.

In order to ensure access to capital and maintain flexible funding possibilities, Landsvirkjun 
has used different types of funding. In past years, financing has mostly taken place 
through a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (EMTN). At year end 2012, the balance of 
loans under the EMTN was USD 1.83 billion but the total amount that the Company can 
borrow under the programme is USD 2.5 billion.       
   
The Company’s risk related to refinancing is reduced with an evenly distributed and long 
dated maturity profile. Weighted average of loan maturity was 6.5 years and the proportion 
of loans with maturity within 12 months was 7.9%.       
     
Contractual payments due to financial instruments, including interest rates, are specified 
as follows:

2012 Book value
Contractual

cash flow Within 1 year 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years
More than 

5 years

Non-derivative financial instruments

Long-term receivables 3,107 3,577 217 217 3,143 0

Cash 187,916 187,916 187,916 0 0 0

Restricted deposits 968 968 968 0 0 0

Short term receivables 72,896 72,896 72,896 0 0 0

Interest bearing liab. (2,624,455) (3,168,729) (241,475) (231,700) (894,600) (1,800,954)

Current liabilities (71,845) (71,845) (71,845) 0 0 0

(2,431,413) (2,975,217) (51,323) (231,483) (891,457) (1,800,954)

Derivative financial instruments

Currency swaps (3,841) (3,359) (3,197) (609) 447 0

Interest rate swaps (44,588) (42,655) (4,213) (4,848) (33,002) (592)

Aluminium derivatives 9,997 12,032 8,726 3,306 0 0

Embedded derivatives

in electricity sales agr 270,836 290,999 17,549 20,987 85,318 167,145

232,403 257,017 18,865 18,836 52,763 166,553
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2011 Book value
Contractual

cash flow Within 1 year 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years
More than 

5 years

Non-derivative financial instruments  

Cash 229,942 229,942 229,942 0 0 0

Restricted deposits 8,251 8,251 8,251 0 0 0

Short term receivables 75,077 75,077 75,077 0 0 0

Interest bearing liab. (2,741,066) (3,384,434) (173,087) (200,559) (808,248) (2,202,540)

Current liabilities (75,388) (75,388) (75,388) 0 0 0

(2,503,184) (3,146,552) 64,795 (200,559) (808,248) (2,202,540)

Derivative financial instruments

Currency swaps (36,107) (23,946) (6,348) (17,598) 0 0

Interest rate swaps (46,292) (45,712) (3,904) (4,390) (35,536) (1,882)

Aluminium derivatives 23,936 28,910 15,801 7,483 5,626 0

Embedded derivatives

in electricity sales agr. 274,227 300,680 16,187 20,666 83,799 180,028

215,764 259,932 21,736 6,161 53,889 178,146

53. Counterparty risk                    
Counterparty risk is the risk that a counterparty to an agreement does not comply with 
provisions of the agreement. Landsvirkjun’s counterparty risk arises first and foremost 
due to the Company’s energy contracts and derivatives entered into for hedging purposes. 
Though the amounts involved can be considerably high, the risk is limited with the 
Company´s requirements for counterparty quality. Landsvirkjun has set a benchmark 
for the trading of derivatives that no derivative agreements are made with financial 
counterparties that have a lower rating than A- from Standard and Poor’s or a comparable 
rating from other recognised credit rating agencies. Before entering into energy contracts 
the financial standing of the relevant companies and their parent companies, when 
applicable, are thoroughly reviewed.
     

The Company’s counterparty risk is specified as follows at year end: 2012 2011

Derivative financial instruments 311,667 330,460 

Restricted deposits 968 8,251 

Long-term receivables 3,107 0 

Accounts receivables and other receivables 72,896 75,077 

Cash and cash equivalents 187,916 229,942 

576,554 643,730
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54. Fair value    
Comparison of fair value and book value    

                   2012                  2011

The fair value and book value of financial 
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet is 
specified as follows: Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Derivative financial instruments 232,403 232,403 215,764 215,764 

Other long-term assets 3,224 3,330 106 106 

Accounts receivables and other  
short term receivables 72,896 72,896 75,077 75,077 

Restricted deposits 968 968 8,251 8,251 

Cash and cash equivalents 187,916 187,916 229,942 229,942 

Interest bearing liabilities (2,624,455) (2,736,455) (2,741,066) (2,863,013)

Accounts payable and other  
short term payables (71,845) (71,845) (75,388) (75,388)

(2,198,893) (2,310,787) (2,287,314) (2,409,261)

Note 14 includes further information on measurement of fair value.   

Interest rates in the evaluation of fair value
Inter bank rates and swap rates were used without spread for the relevant currencies at the 
reporting date when discounting the expected cash flow.      
      

Interest rates are specified as follows:: 2012 2011 

Embedded derivatives in electric power agreements 0.3-1.9% 0.6-2.1%

Interest bearing liabilities in ISK            5.5-6.4% 4.6-5.1%

Interest bearing liabilities other than in ISK 0.0-2.7% 0.1-2.8%

Fair value classification:  
The table below shows financial instruments recognised at fair value according to the 
relevant price evaluation method. The methods are defined as follows:   
     
Level 1: Prices are available in an active market for the same type of assets and liabilities.             
Level 2: Assumptions based on other variables than available price in an active market (level 1) 
that can be obtained for assets and liabilities, directly (for example price) or indirectly 
(derived from prices).             
Level 3: Assumptions for fair value of assets and liabilities are based on data that is not 
available in markets. 

Level 2 Level 3 Total

2012

Embedded derivatives 270,836 270,836 

Other derivatives (38,433) (38,433)

Shares in other companies 117 117 

(38,433) 270,953 232,520 

2011

Embedded derivatives 274,227 274,227 

Other derivatives (58,463) (58,463)

Shares in other companies 106 106 

(58,463) 274,333 215,870
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Classification of financial assets between the levels remains unchanged from the previ-
ous year.  Fair value changes of financial assets at level 3 amounted to USD 3.4 million 
expensed in the year 2012 (USD 93.2 million in the year 2011) and is recognised among 
financial income and expenses.    

55. Classification of financial instruments      
According to the International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 39 Financial instru-
ments: recognition and measurement, financial assets and liabilities are divided into 
defined groups.  The classification affects how the evaluation of the relevant financial 
instrument is measured. Those groups to which the Company’s financial assets and liabil-
ities pertain and their basis for evaluation are specified as follows: 
   
>  Trading assets and liabilities - are recognised at fair value through profit and loss. 
>  Financial assets and liabilities - are denominated at fair value and recognised at fair   
 value through P&L. 
>  Loans and receivables - are recognised at amortised cost.     
>  Other financial liabilities - are recognised at amortised cost.

Financial assets and liabilities are divided into the following groups of financial instruments:

Trading assets 
and liabilities

Financial
assets and

liabilities at
fair value 

through p&l
Loans and 

receivables 

Financial 
liabilities 

recognised
at amor-

 tised cost    Book value

2012

Derivatives 311,667 311,667 

Shares in other companies 117 117 

Long-term receivables 3,107 3,107 

Accounts receivables and

other receivables 72,896 72,896 

Restricted deposits 968 968 

Cash 187,916 187,916 

Total assets 311,667 3,224 261,780 0 576,671 

Interest bearing liabilities 2,624,455 2,624,455 

Derivatives 79,264 79,264 

Accounts payable and

other payables 71,845 71,845 

 Total liabilities 79,264 0 0 2,696,300 2,775,564 
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56. Other issues         
The Company has capitalised water rights amounting to USD 45.6 million, whereof water 
rights related to Kárahnjúkar weigh the most. With Law Amendment Act no. 58/2008 on 
the resource and energy sector, which entered into effect on 1 July 2009, restrictions are 
set for the State, municipalities, and government owned Companies on the endorsement of 
the ownership of water rights containing harnessable power in excess of 10 MW. The State 
and municipalities are allowed, however, to entitle companies in their posession the right 
of using the resources for up to 65 years at a time. The State has yet to decide how these 
issues will be managed in the future with respect to Landsvirkjun.
       
57. Subsequent events       
No subsequent events have taken place after the balance sheet date, which would require 
adjustments or changes to the financial statement for the year 2012.    
       

Notes, contd.:

Trading assets 
and liabilities

Financial
assets and

liabilities at
fair value 

through p&l
Loans and 

receivables 

Financial 
liabilities 

recognised
at amor-

 tised cost    Book value

2011

Derivatives 330,460 330,460 

Shares in other companies 106 106 

Accounts receivables and

other receivables 75,077 75,077 

Restricted deposits 8,251 8,251 

Cash 229,942 229,942 

Total assets 330,460 106 313,270 0 643,836 

Interest bearing liabilities 2,741,066 2,741,066 

Derivatives 114,696 114,696 

Accounts payable and other 
payables 75,388 75,388 

Total liabilities      114,696 0 0 2,816,454 2,931,150
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Corporate Governance         
Organisation  
Landsvirkjun’s operations are subject to Act no. 42/1983, with later amendments. The 
Board of Directors of Landsvirkjun has established working procedures for the Board 
for further compliance with the law.
      
Values and social responsibility
Landsvirkjun’s employees hold progress, prudence, and trust as their guiding 
principles. Landsvirkjun’s policy on social responsibility was approved and presented 
in November 2011. The policy aims at increasing the Company’s positive effect on 
stakeholders and minimise negative effect on the environment and community. The 
policy sets the basis for the Company to obtain its goal of becoming a leading energy 
company in the field of renewable energy and aims for Landsvirkjun to take note of the 
economy, environment, and community in its operations.

The Board of Directors
According to law, the Board of Directors of Landsvirkjun is responsible for the financial 
matters and operations of the Company and is appointed by the Minister of Finance 
for a one year term. The Board of Directors of Landsvirkjun consists of the following 
Directors: Bryndís Hlödversdóttir, President of the University of Bifröst, who is 
also the Chairman of the Board, Sigurbjörg Gísladóttir, chemist at the Environment 
Agency of Iceland and vice Chairman of the Board, Ingimundur Sigurpálsson, CEO of 
Íslandspóstur, Arnar Bjarnason, Managing Director of Reykjavík Capital and Stefán 
Arnórsson, Professor at the University of Iceland.
     
Audit committee
Chapter IX of Act no. 3/2006 on financial statements, cf. Act no. 80/2008 applies to 
the audit committee of Landsvirkjun. The working procedures for the committee are 
established by the Company’s Board of Directors for further compliance with the law. 
The audit committee of Landsvirkjun exercises advisory functions for the Board and 
operates on the basis of the Board’s authorisation. The committee has no executive 
power. The Company’s audit committee consists of three individuals; two board 
members, Ingimundur Sigurpálsson and Sigurbjörg Gísladóttir. Stefán Svavarsson, 
Professor at the University of Bifröst is the Chairman of the committee.

CEO, Deputy and Executive Directors
The Board of Directors of Landsvirkjun hires a CEO. The CEO of the Company is 
Hördur Arnarson. The Board of Directors and the CEO exercise executive power in the 
Company. Landsvirkjun’s Deputy is Ragna Árnadóttir. The Deputy’s roles is to handle 
collective matters of the Company in addition to policy development, such as ensuring 
good corporate governance. At the end of the year the Company’s executive directors 
were five.
   
Finance division. 
The Company’s CFO is Rafnar Lárusson. The role of the division is to create a basis for 
a profitable operation and contribute to maximum results in all units of the Group.

Statement of Corporate Governance
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Power this year. The company will fully merge with 
Landsvirkjun Power in 2013.

Other subsidiaries
Landsvirkjun also has co-ownership of the following 
companies:

Badfélag Mývatnssveitar hf: Landsvirkjun owned 15.1% 
of the active capital in Badfélag Mývatnssveitar at the 
end of 2012.

DMM lausnir ehf: Is a software and consultancy company 
specialising in the production and implementation 
of the information systems DMM and Inspector.is. 
Landsvirkjun owns 16.6% of the company.

Farice ehf: A company founded in September, 2002 for 
the purpose of preparing and operating the FARICE 
and DANICE submarine cables. Landsvirkjun owns 
28.9% of the company.

Íslensk orka ehf: Conducts operations related to the 
harnessing and use of energy. Landsvirkjun owns 
27.2% of the company.

Netorka hf: Is a joint data assessment and accountancy 
company for the Icelandic electricity market. It 
handles the settlement and processing of sales data and 
monitors any changes to the business transactions of 
electricity sellers and buyers. Landsvirkjun owns 6.1% 
of the company.

Neydarlínan ohf:  Operates the emergency number 
112. It also operates the Maritime Traffic Service and 
the Gufunes Telecommunications Centre. It owns 
and operates the telecommunications company, the 
National Tetra Service. Landsvirkjun owns 8% of the 
company.

NýOrka hf: Is a platform for co-operation between 
the energy companies and research institutions. 
NýOrka’s aim is to lead projects that test new hydrogen 
technology and to promote the use of hydrogen in the 
Icelandic community. Landsvirkjun owns 12% of the 
company.

Sjávarorka ehf: Conducts research on marine research. 
Landsvirkjun owns 30.3% of the company.

Project planning division. 
The Head of project planning division is Pálmar Óli Magnússon. The role of the division 
is to manage Landsvirkjun’s power plant constructions from development to fully 
operative power plants. The division monitors costs, quality and work progress and 
ensures that projects are delivered fully operative in accordance with the Company’s 
presumptions, estimates, and needs.

Marketing and business development division. 
Head of marketing and business development is Magnús Bjarnason. The role of the 
division is to maximise the Company’s revenue with the analysis of different business 
opportunities, product development, promotion, and sales of products and services, 
and negotiations of new power contracts and follow up on the execution of existing 
contracts.          
  
Energy division. 
Director of the energy division is Einar Mathiesen. The role of the division is to 
guarantee that energy production and distribution is in accordance with agreements 
with customers in a safe and an efficient way.
        
Research and development division. 
Head of research and development is Óli Grétar Blöndal Sveinsson. The role of the 
division is to manage the preparation of new power projects and to conduct research 
and monitoring of the existing power system. The division shall ensure the economic 
implementation of new power projects, increase flexibility and manage innovation, 
and to have a long-term vision of utilisation of energy resources.    
        
           
  
           
  
           
           
   
           
  
           
  
           
  
           
  

Consol idated Financial  Statements 2012



101101

Landsvirkjun is the owner or co-owner of six 
subsidiaries. These companies are part of the core 
operation of Landsvirkjun and all specialise in sectors 
which derive from energy production. These include 
the transmission of electricity and the management 
of electrical systems, participation in foreign energy 
projects, telecommunications services, energy 
research, and insurance for power stations.

Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd: A captive insurance 
company, which handles insurance and re-insurance 
for Landsvirkjun’s power stations and, in addition, 
supervises insurance matters for construction 
projects. Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd is fully owned 
by Landsvirkjun. 

Landsnet hf: Landsnet hf. operates under the ‘Electricity 
Act’ passed in Parliament in the spring of 2003. Its role is 
to operate Iceland’s electricity transmission system and 
administer its system operations. It operates on the basis 
of a special licence and is subject to surveillance by the 
National Energy Authority, which decides the income 
framework upon which the company’s tariff is based. 
Landsvirkjun owns 64.7% of Landsnet. 

Landsvirkjun Power ehf: Landsvirkjun Power ehf. be-
gan operations at the beginning of 2008. Landsvirkjun 
Power is the engineering, construction and foreign in-
vestment arm of Landsvirkjun. The role of Landsvirk-
jun Power is primarily to provide consultancy on energy 
matters at the international level. Landsvirkjun Power 
is fully owned by Landsvirkjun.

Orkufjarskipti hf. Orkufjarskipti operates and maintains 
the telecommunication infrastructure in Iceland and 
is equally owned by Landsvirkjun and Landsnet ehf 
(which operates the Icelandic electricity transmission 
grid).

Changes to Landsvirkjun’s group of subsidiaries
Theistareykir ehf: The company which has been respon-
sible for research and preparation measures for pow-
er projects at Theistareykjum is now fully owned by 
Landsvirkjun. The merger was approved on the 1st of 
September, 2012.

Hraunaveita ehf: The company which was responsible for 
various projects in connection with the Kárahnjúkar 

Hydropower Station was handed over to Landsvirkjun 
Power this year. The company will fully merge with 
Landsvirkjun Power in 2013.

Other subsidiaries
Landsvirkjun also has co-ownership of the following 
companies:

Badfélag Mývatnssveitar hf: Landsvirkjun owned 15.1% 
of the active capital in Badfélag Mývatnssveitar at the 
end of 2012.

DMM lausnir ehf: Is a software and consultancy company 
specialising in the production and implementation 
of the information systems DMM and Inspector.is. 
Landsvirkjun owns 16.6% of the company.

Farice ehf: A company founded in September, 2002 for 
the purpose of preparing and operating the FARICE 
and DANICE submarine cables. Landsvirkjun owns 
28.9% of the company.

Íslensk orka ehf: Conducts operations related to the 
harnessing and use of energy. Landsvirkjun owns 
27.2% of the company.

Netorka hf: Is a joint data assessment and accountancy 
company for the Icelandic electricity market. It hand-
les the settlement and processing of sales data and 
monitors any changes to the business transactions 
of electricity sellers and buyers. Landsvirkjun owns 
6.1% of the company.

Neydarlínan ohf: Operates the emergency number 112. 
It also operates the Maritime Traffic Service and the 
Gufunes Telecommunications Centre. It owns and 
operates the telecommunications company, the Na-
tional Tetra Service. Landsvirkjun owns 8% of the 
company.

NýOrka hf: Is a platform for co-operation between 
the energy companies and research institutions. 
NýOrka’s aim is to lead projects that test new hydrogen 
technology and to promote the use of hydrogen in the 
Icelandic community. Landsvirkjun owns 12% of the 
company.

Sjávarorka ehf: Conducts research on marine research. 
Landsvirkjun owns 30.3% of the company.

Subsidiaries
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-

Calls for tender
Forval nr. 20069 : skjalakerfi og kerfi fyrir 
ábendingar, úrbótaverkefni og innri úttektir. 

LV-2012-001

Wind turbines : contract documents  
HAF-30 : nr. 20070. 

LV-2012-004

Geothermal Drilling Works : contract docu-
ments NAL - 01 : nr. 20068 : tender procedures 
: volume 1-5

LV-2012-009

Kárahnjúkavirkjun : útboðsgögn KAR-25C nr. 
20079 : Sauðárveita : stíflur og skurðir. 

LV-2012-016

Kárahnjúkavirkjun : forvalsgögn vegna útboðs 
KAR22B nr. 20080 : Ufsarstífla : endurröðun 
ölduvarnar. 

LV-2012-017

Búðarháls hydroelectric project : contract 
documents BUD-32, No. 20083 : high voltage 
cables and terminators. 

LV-2012-027

Skjalakerfi og kerfi fyrir innri úttektir,  
ábendingar og úrbótaverkefni :   
samningskaupagögn nr. 20073.

LV-2012-034

Kárahnjúkavirkjun : útboðsgögn KAR-22B nr. 
20084 : Ufsarstífla : endurröðun ölduvarnar. 

LV-2012-044

Bjarnarflag : útboðsgögn BJA-01, Nr. 20089 : 
boranir 2012 til 2013. 

LV-2012-051

Útboðsgögn nr. 20087 : ræsting Háaleitisbraut 
68

LV-2012-053

Útboð nr. 20085 : OAK-105 Fljótsdalsstöð : um-
hirða vega og svæða Fljótsdalsstöðvar 2012.

LV-2012-059

Purchase of PE100 and PE80 pipes : contract 
documents No. 30002. - Þeistareykir ehf.

LV-2012-060

Bjarnarflag : útboðsgögn BJA-13-1, Nr. 20093 : 
vinnubúðir Landsvirkjunar. 

LV-2012-066

Bjarnarflag : útboðsgögn BJA-13-2, Nr. 20082 : 
skrifstofuhús : breytingar og endurbætur. 

LV-2012-067

Skrokkölduvirkjun SKR - 091 : útboðsgögn 
20092 : rannsóknarboranir 2012. 

LV-2012-074

Útboð nr. 20091, glerskipti á Háaleitisbraut 68. LV-2012-075

Endurmálun á aflspennum : Írafossstöð : 
útboðsgögn nr. 20097. 

LV-2012-077

Bjarnarflag : útboðsgögn BJA-16-1, nr. 20101 : 
landmótun og vegagerð.

LV-2012-078

Þeistareykir : útboðsgögn THR - 13 - 01, nr. 
30003 : uppsetning vinnubúða. 

LV-2012-080

Vátryggingar Landsvirkjunar : útboð nr. 20105. LV-2012-104

Reports on environmental issues
Hálslón 2011 : jarðvegsbinding,  
gróðurstyrking og vöktun strandsvæða. 

LV-2012-006

Hálslón 2011 : kortlagning strandsvæða. LV-2012-007

Kárahnjúkavirkjun : frágangur vinnusvæða. LV-2012-011

Áhrif fyrirhugaðra virkjana í neðri hluta  
Þjórsár á fiskistofna í Þjórsá. 

LV-2012-014

Hólmsárvirkjun : skýringar við jarðgrunnskort. LV-2012-015

Áhrif Hólmsárvirkjunar á ferðamennsku  
og útivist. 

LV-2012-020

Eftirlit með áhrifum af losun affallsvatns frá 
Kröflustöð og Bjarnarflagsstöð : vöktun og 
niðurstöður 2011. 

LV-2012-021

Kárahnjúkavirkjun : fallryksmælingar við 
Hálslón, á Brúaröræfum og í byggð á  
Fljótsdalshéraði sumarið 2011. 

LV-2012-023

Grunnvatnsvöktun á túnum Egilsstaða : 
niðurstöður mælinga nóv. 2007 - nóv. 2011. 

LV-2012-029

Kortlagning burðarsvæða hreindýra á  
áhrifasvæðum Kárahnjúkavirkjunar vorið 2011.

LV-2012-033

Hávellutalningar á Lagarfljóti og á vötnum í 
Fljótsdalsheiði 2011. 

LV-2012-036

Vöktun skúms á Úthéraði : úttekt á varpi við 
Jökulsá á Dal 2011. 

LV-2012-038

Vöktun heiðagæsa á Snæfellsöræfum 2011 : 
áhrif Kárahnjúkavirkjunar á heiðagæsir. 

LV-2012-039

Vatnamælingar Landsvirkjunar : vatnsárið 
2010/2011. 

LV-2012-043

Helsingjar við Hólmsá. - Náttúrfræðistofnun 
Íslands.

LV-2012-045

Fiskrannsóknir á vatnasvæði Þjórsár  
árið 2011. 

LV-2012-047

Blöndulón : vöktun á strandrofi og áfoki : 
áfangaskýrsla 2011 

LV-2012-049

Fiskrannsóknir í Sogi og þverám þess  
árið 2011. 

LV-2012-061

Úttekt á kolefnisbindingu skógræktar á 
svæðum í eigu Landsvirkjunar.

LV-2012-062

Áhrif gruggs á vatnalífríki Glúmsstaðadalsár 
og Hrafnkelsár : niðurstöður vöktunar 2011. 

LV-2012-064

Kringilsárrani : rannsóknir á gróður- 
breytingum með samanburði gervitungla- 
mynda frá 2002 og 2010. 

LV-2012-069

Eftirlitsmælingar í Kröflu og Bjarnarflagi 2011. LV-2012-073

Hólmsárvirkjun - Atleyjarlón : fuglar, gróður 
og smádýr. 

LV-2012-086

Umhverfisskýrsla 2011. LV-2012-090

Styrkur brennisteinsvetnis í andrúmslofti í 
Reykjahlíð : úrvinnsla mælinga 10. febrúar  
2011 - 9. maí 2012. 

LV-2012-095

Eftirlitsmælingar í Kröflu og Bjarnarflagi 2012. LV-2012-097

Áhrif Kárahnjúkavirkjunar á vatnsborð og 
grunnvatn á láglendi á Héraði.

LV-2012-099

Fisk- og smádýrarannsóknir í Hólmsá 2011. LV-2012-105

Landsvirkjun’s publications 2012
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Ræktunaráætlun fyrir skógræktarsvæði við 
Bjarnalón. 

LV-2012-108

Skráning á landbroti á bökkum Lagarfljóts  
og Jökulsár í Fljótsdal. 

LV-2012-109

Hreindýratalningar norðan Vatnajökuls :  
með myndatöku úr flugvél 2012. 

LV-2012-115

General reports
Hraunaveita : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-003

Sauðárveita : vegslóðir og tygjun : KAR-25B : 
verklokaskýrsla 2011. 

LV-2012-005

Blönduvirkjun : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-010

Þeistareykjavirkjun : rannsóknir steypuefna. LV-2012-012

Sauðárdalsstífla : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-013

Kárahnjúkastífla : stíflueftirlit. LV-2012-019

Neyðarstjórn Landsvirkjunar :  
starfsemin 2011. 

LV-2012-022

Hólmsárvirkjun : Hydroelectric Project (HEP) : 
Ground Investigation Report (GIR). 

LV-2012-025

Crustal deformation in the Krafla, Gjástykki 
and Þeistareykir areas inferred from GPS and 
InSAR techniques : status report for 2011. 

LV-2012-028

Desjarárstífla : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-030

Kárahnjúkar hydroelectric project : updated 
design memoranda : volume I : general and 
civic. 

LV-2012-031

Kárahnjúkar hydroelectric project :  
updated design memoranda : volume II :  
electrical and mechanical. 

LV-2012-032

Vatnsfellsvirkjun : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-037

Hrauneyjafossstífla : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-040

Umhirða vega og svæða Fljótsdalsstöðvar  
2011 : Flóðvarnargarður við Kelduárlón og  
frágangur á Hvammseyri : Verklokaskýrsla. 

LV-2012-042

Hágöngumiðlun : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-046

Sultartangavirkjun : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-048

Kvíslaveita : stíflueftirlit 2011. LV-2012-050

Skjálftaverkefnið í Kröflu : staðan í apríl 2012. LV-2012-058

Jarðvarmi : kynningarrit. LV-2012-076

Bjarnarflagsvirkjun : rannsóknir steypuefna. LV-2012-081

Burfell Wind Turbines : ground Investigation 
Report.

LV-2012-082

Flóð á Þjórsár- og Tungnaársvæði : flóð í 
desember 2006. 

LV-2012-092

Hólmsá í Skaftártungu : rennslislíkan. LV-2012-094

Sigölduvirkjun : stíflueftirlit vatnsárið 
2011-2012. 

LV-2012-096

Krafla og Bjarnarflag : afköst borhola og 
efnainnihald vatns og gufu í borholum og 
vinnslurás árið 2011. 

LV-2012-098

Búðarhálsvirkjun : teikningar í hornsteini  
sem lagður var þann 26. október 2012. 

LV-2012-100

Bjarnarflagsvirkjun : prófun vatns fyrir 
kæliturna. 

LV-2012-106

Bjarnarflagsvirkjun : prófun á nýtingu  
skiljuvatns. 

LV-2012-107
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1 MW = 1.000 kW = 1.000.000 W

1 kV = 1,000 V

Transmission voltage is measured in volts. The voltage of the 

country’s most powerful high-voltage lines is 220 kV.

1 Gl = 1,000,000,000 l = 1,000,000 m3

The capacity of reservoirs is measured in gigalitres.

Power is measured in watts that describe the ability to  

perform work.

Power describes the capacities of the turbines  

in a power station.

1 TWh = 1,000 GWh = 1,000,000 MWh = 1,000,000,000 kWh

Electricity is usually measured in kilowatt hours, for example, 

how much electricity is generated or consumed.

kV = kilovolt

V = volt

GI = gigalitre

I = litre

KW = kilowatt

W = watt

TWh = terawatt hour

kWh= kilowatt hour

MWh= megawatt hour

M3 = cubic metre

GWh = gigawatt hour

The 2012 Annual Report is printed in a limited run as
distribution is mainly electronic in order to limit its
environmental footprint.

The paper used for the report has Nordic Swan Ecolabel
accreditation and it also carries the FSC label.
The FSC label indicates that the timber used for a
product originates from a forest where new trees are
planted to replace those that are felled. This means
that the production is sustainable.

Design: Jónsson & Le’macks
Photography: Sveinn Speight, Baldur Kristjánson,  
Ari Magg, Marino Thorlacius, Emil Þór Sigurðsson  
and Steingrímur Karlsson
Printing: Oddi
Supervision: Corporate Communication  
divison of Landsvirkjun
Executive editor: Magnús Thór Gylfason

The printing of the Landsvirkjun Annual Report has Nordic Swan 
Ecolabel accreditation. Units of measurment




